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1
Vi s io n and Missio n

Va l u e s of the orga n i za tion

Vision

Leadership

Be a leading organization in the world fishing industry.

We fulfill objectives, encouraging learning and professional
development.

Mission

Integrity

Copeinca supplies high quality seafood to satisfy the market
needs by exploiting the available fishing resources with
responsibility and efficiency; thanks to the commitment
and know-how of its people, supported on adequate
technology.

We are honest, abide by our commitments, and comply
with laws and corporate policies.

Respect and
acknowledgment
We respect people and acknowledge their achievements,
providing personal development and organizational oppor-

tunities within an environment where ideas and feedback
are highly valued.

Innovation
We support individual and teamwork-based initiatives
and creativity, tolerating mistakes, recognizing that there is
always something new to learn, and permanently seeking
the improvement of the individual.

Teamwork
We share our objectives and strategies with our workers,
encourage an open and flexible environment for
cooperation, and strive to have team objectives prevail over
personal objectives.
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3
L e t t er from the fo u nd ing p art ners t o new
s ha reholders and s t akeho lders
Dear Sirs:
On behalf of the founding partners, the board of directors, the management group and all COPEINCA staff, it is our pleasure to
welcome our new partners.

We predict that the listing of the company’s shares in the Oslo
Stock Exchange, on January 29, 2007, will mean an important
event for COPEINCA, the fishing sector and our country’s business
sector in general.
COPEINCA will not only be a publicly held, globalized and corporately governed company, where its commitment to
success will depend each time less on the enterprising drive of the Dyer family, changing from a family-held company to
company whose future will lie in the hands of the decisions and good management derived from corporate governance rules
and principles efficiently implemented by its directors, senior management and staff, for the benefit of the various company
stakeholders.
We trust that the result of our future economic activities, as well as the irrevocable enforcement of the above-mentioned
principles in our company, will continue being trusted by the public as well as by professional and institutional investors,
facilitating our access to capital markets, thus allowing us to add value and eventually include new shareholders as a result of
the demand and liquidity of our shares.
The trust and success achieved since the creation of COPEINCA, through continuous work with our independent directors,
senior management and professional collaborators committed to the company, will be enhanced by the contribution of
new highly professional directors, who will look after the security and value of the investment of all the shareholders, publicly
reporting their decisions, results and all relevant information.

We firmly believe that through efficiency and professional
management COPEINCA will continue increasing its value,
by growing and increasing its market share, as well as by the
diversification and upgrade of its assets. In this way, our shareholders may rest assured that they
have made a good decision in joining and investing in COPEINCA.

In COPEINCA we have built a culture committed to work, ethics, principles, values and implementation of good corporate
practices, which must continue with greater emphasis, due to the fact that the company has become part of such an
important stock exchange as the Oslo Stock Exchange and obtained the initial trust of 144 shareholders, who have believed
in our organization.
Staring in 2007, we will be new group of shareholders, subject to the variations and regulations of the stock market, but also
with some important and stable shareholders we expect to incorporate through mergers, with whom we are sure we will
agree and create synergies to continue working corporately as a team, allowing us to continue in our pursuit to become one
of the largest, most profitable and efficient companies of the sector, committed to our collaborators and to society, as well as
to the sustainability of resources and care for the environment.
Cordially yours,
Samuel E. Dyer Ampudia
Rosa Coriat de Dyer
Osterlin L. Dyer Ampudia
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4
L e t t er from the c h airman
Dear shareholders:
I am pleased to present you with COPEINCA’S 2006 Annual Report and financial statements.
During 2003 and 2004, the DC - Holding / Dyer Coriat and Acero - Holding / Dyer Osorio - Fernández family groups, shareholders
of COPEINCA, adopted a number of measures aimed at strengthening the company and achieving its sustained development.
Among these measures, the most important one was having a corporate governance orientation. Today, we can feel satisfied
for having accomplished this and, thanks to the perseverance of our daily work, we celebrate the great achievement of listing of
our shares in the Norway stock exchange.
As a result of our great efforts as a human team, the implementation of corporate governance continued and, being convinced
of the process we had embarked in –complemented by the search of growth not based on debt– in November 2005 we made
the decision to include shareholders external to the family, which always poses a complex challenge.

Today, we are in a position to state that the professional capacitybuilding process and implementation of corporate governance
have allowed us to say: we are prepared; we can give it a try.
And we took this step in January 2005 with Glitnir investment bank from Iceland. This process initially consisted of including an
investor through private negotiations. After making a diagnosis, Glitnir reached a price agreement with COPEINCA and started
to work on the possibility of listing our shares in Norway. To this end, we took advantage of the favorable timing both for Perú
and for the fishing sector. The Norway stock exchange was in turn looking for foreign investors and COPEINCA was prepared at
all levels. Thus, thanks to our experience, we were able to successfully complete the transaction in December 2006.

The forward-looking message is that we all have a new
responsibility and, although it is true that we are committed the
current shareholders, with even more reason we are committed
to the new ones.
The family-linked capital continues being 62%; minority shareholders hold a 38% interest and have invested US$100 million,
placing our trust on us. This leads us to evaluate and maintain a high level of professionalism and responsibility, providing
transparent information with the capacity to adapt ourselves to the Scandinavian work culture.
We have the duty of continuing with the path traced since 2004 and take on a new challenge: to become a globalized company
with reporting obligations, whose board of directors and management will be measured by the value of its shares on the market.
The company will make strategic and financial decisions in Norway. The new board of directors is formed by 9 members, which
include 4 related to the family, 4 Norwegians and 1 Peruvian not related to the family. Commercial activities will be carried out
in Spain and the daily business operations will be conducted in Perú.

Our long term vision and consistent decision making to achieve
this sustained growth marks our difference; maintaining it will be
the great challenge in this fascinating process we have started.
Congratulations.
Wilfredo A. Cáceres Monroe
Chairman of the Board
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4.1

key investment considerations

• Perú is the largest fishmeal and fish oil
producer in the world. With a constant increase
in world aquiculture production between 8-10% per year
(FAO), the fishmeal and fish oil industry has become one of
the main raw material suppliers, to feed both fish and other
animals.

•

One of the greatest opportunities for the Peruvian
fishmeal and fish oil sectors relies on the possible implementation of the Individual Fishing Quota (IFQ) system for

anchovy. The IFQ system is backed by most
Peruvian processors and the successful
experience of Chile is used as example.

• Numerous and attractive consolidation
opportunities in the Peruvian market: At
present, the Peruvian fishing industry continues fragmented, with eight large companies holding a 58% interest in
the industrial fleet capacity. Presently, many of the small
companies are withdrawing from the market because

they are unable to compete with the leading companies.
The recent acquisitions in the Peruvian fishmeal and fish
oil industry have evidenced a high local and international
interest in this sector.

• COPEINCA ranks among the five most
important companies in the Peruvian
fishmeal and fish oil industry. The company
has been strengthening its leadership in the sector
during the last few years and is now in a position to
take advantage of its consolidation in the industry. The
acquisition of Del Mar in August 2005 for US$22 million,
as well as the Casma plant for US$4.5 million and Jadrán
(by the company Nardai) in September 2006 for US$29
million, are the three most important growth initiatives,
among others.

• In 2006, the growth and profitability got
back on track with estimated sales of US$91 million
and EBITDA of US$36 million, with a growth of 5% and
125%, respectively, since 2004.

COPEINCA 06

14

5
L et t er from the general manager
Dear shareholders:

I am pleased to inform you that in 2006 COPEINCA has been
able to rank among the country’s five most important fishing
companies. We were able to consolidate the purchase of Del Mar and other assets we acquired in late 2005, which
allowed us to increase the number of plants and nearly double our fleet. The second accomplishment was the acquisition of
Pesquera Jadrán by COPEINCA’s shareholders, with a local financing of US$5 million and a NY hedge fund of US$20 million.
Pesquera Jadrán is currently being managed by COPEINCA, under a purchase option that we expect to enforce next year. This
accomplishment will allow us to increase the fleet from 8,700 to 11,150 m3, the fourth most important one of the country.
As far as operational achievements are concerned, 2006 was a particular year due to the small global quota granted by IMARPE
and PRODUCE, with a catch of 5 million MT. This quota was established mainly as a measure to preserve the biomass, due to the
possibility of facing a “El Niño” event in 2007. COPEINCA’s fleet was able to catch 4.5% of the total quota. Together with the Jadrán
fleet, the catch stood at 5%, and the total catch by the company –including the purchase of third-party fleet– was 7.3%, which
allowed us to hold 4th place in the catch ranking.
COPEINCA’s fleet performance in the sector is shown in the following statistical table, in comparison with the main companies
engaged in this business.
However, the highlight of 2006 is the recent placement of COPEINCA’s shares for a total amount of US$100 million, which are
listed in the Oslo Stock Exchange (Norway) since January 2007. In other words, at the time of the placement we have a total of

Per formance of COPEINCA’s fleet in the sector
Position

Company

Fleet
m3

Quota %

A nnu al Total s p e r Comp any
2004

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

Tasa (Sipesa)
Austral
Hayduk
Copeinca
Polar/Malla
Diamante
CFG INVESMENT
Exalmar
Cormar
Pac. Centro
Fish Protein
Epesca
Total

24,928.83
14,419.21
11,480.61
11,122.48
9,124.66
8,759.08
7,994.33
5,961.21
4,773.05
4,664.41
4,084.16
3,027.07
107,312.03

10.86%
6.22%
5.50%
5.13%
4.23%
4.20%
3.71%
2.70%
2.05%
2.25%
2.21%
1.44%
49.07%

889,688.56
367,147.65
486,342.04
507,933.71
397,005.18
381,656.59
343,881.40
239,122.90
181,975.29
204,111.20
240,293.08
124,342.11
4,365,503.71

2005
554,441.68
353,996.05
345,217.87
230,648.00
236,855.00
268,980.10
207,163.18
155,490.46
103,350.07
150,183.35
143,823.01
94,316.60
2,846,470.37

2006
587,271.14
308,917.71
310,731.90
282,037.15
207,270.70
221,421.75
194,273.46
132,849.07
91,291.49
113,517.94
126,999.20
76,518.68
2,655,106.19

Landing %
per company
2006
11.85%
6.23%
6.27%
5.69%
4.18%
4.47%
3.92%
2.68%
1.84%
2.29%
2.56%
1.54%

Fishing Fishing
2006
Permit Record EFFICIENCY

11.9%
6.9%
5.5%
5.3%
4.3%
4.2%
3.8%
2.8%
2.3%
2.2%
1.9%
1.4%

11.9%
6.2%
6.3%
5.7%
4.2%
4.5%
3.9%
2.7%
1.8%
2.3%
2.6%
1.5%

-0.15%
-9.20%
14.71%
7.47%
-3.72%
7.14%
3.00%
-5.55%
-18.93%
3.15%
31.79%
7.14%

146 shareholders, with the Dyer family which holds 61.54% (founding shareholders). We are one of the first Peruvian companies
able to list its shares in Europe, and this has only been possible thanks to an efficient and transparent management, good
corporate governance practices, good growth perspectives and business consolidation, and the fact of having very capable
professionals. Prestigious entities were involved in this transaction, such as: Glitnir, Thommessen, PricewaterhouseCoopers, Ernst
& Young, Crux Kommunikasjon and Credit Suisse.

The new shareholders will have
new and more stringent demands to meet European standards,
which will have a positive effect on the company. This will be the pillar to build a difference
between COPEINCA and the other companies of the sector, which will be reflected in the value to our shareholders.
Samuel Dyer Coriat
General Manager
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6
our people
6.1

Board of Directors
Wilfredo Cáceres Monroe Chairman of the Board
Mr. Cáceres, earned a degree in Economics and
Administration from Universidad del Pacifico and MBA
from IESE Business School, Universidad de Navarra, Spain,
and pursued numerous business courses and seminars
in the best universities of the world. He has 25 years of
experience in company management and consulting for
the mining, fishing, agro industrial and industrial sectors.
Mr. Cáceres serves on the Board of Directors of Peruvian
and foreign companies.

Daniel Córdova Cayo Vice Chairman of the Board
Mr. Córdova, holds a Doctorate in International Economics
from the University of Grenoble, France. He is Director of the
Investment Project of Procapitales, Dean of the School of
Economics of the Peruvian University of Applied Sciences
(UPC) and member of the Board and Executive Committee
of the Economics and Law Society of UPC. His serves as
director of GBH Swissport, Braedt S.A. and Conductores y
Cables SAC; Representative in Peru of AXA Asset Managers.

He is also Economic Advisor to the Ricardo Palma Clinic
and Repsol YPF and writes an opinion column in the
newspaper “El Comercio”.

Rosa Coriat Valera Director
Businesswoman, partner and Director of Fierros y
Herramientas S.A., Galpesa and Aceros y Techos. She is
General Manager at Gacor Investments; real estate company
that operates abroad. She is currently a majority partner
at D&C Group; diversified business group that started
from COPEINCA S.A. in the fishing sector and that made a
successful incursion in mining with Apurímac Ferrum S.A.,
in construction with IC Viviendas S.A., and in the farming
industry with Ausinka; a company which is expected to
value its stocks in the Australia Stock Exchange Market since
May of the year 2007.
Walter Chumbez Panesi Director
Mr. Chumbez is an accountant from Universidad Ricardo
Palma, with post graduate studies in INCAE, Costa Rica. He

served as senior auditor in Ernst & Ernst Perú (currently Ernst
& Young). He has also served as credit analyst and officer
for Lloyds Bank (Perú), and manager of the business areas
and special credits of Banco del Sur del Perú, Banco del
Libertador (Luksic Group, Chile), Banco de Lima Sudameris,
and Banco Wiese (Intensa Group). He is a partner of the
firm Intelfin SAC, and currently Chairman of the Board of
Apurímac Ferrum.

Samuel Dyer Ampudia Director
Director and Business Manager, with a Bachelor degree from
the Nacional Federico Villareal University. Took the High
Management–International Businesses Program at Piura
University. Has been a founder investor and President of the
Board of Directors at COPEINCA, Galvanizadora Peruana S.A,
Aceros y Techos S.A., Consorcio latinoamericano S.A. and
Ferretería Dyer S.A., among others. He is currently President
of the Board of Directors at D&C Group and Dyer Coriat
Holding S.L.; one of the most successful family business
groups in the country in the last years, which has initiated
its diversification among the mining, and farming industry

and real estate sectors, and the construction sector with
Apurímac Ferrum S.A., Ausinca, Campoinca and IC Viviendas
S.A., respectively.

Piero Dyer Coriat Director
Mr. Piero Dyer Coriat earned a Master’s degree in Business
Administration and a Bachelor of Science degree in
Mechanical Engineering from the University of Miami. He is
a member of the American Society of Mechanical Engineers.
He served as technical and financial analyst for the new
projects undertaken by D&C Group S.A. He currently serves
as General Manager of the steel project undertaken by
Apurímac Ferrum S.A.
Luis Dyer Ampudia Director
Mr. Luis Dyer Ampudia, a businessman, is a shareholder
and founding partner of COPEINCA. He currently serves
as President of the Luis Dyer e Hijos Foundation. He is also
Chairman of the Board and shareholder of Aceros y Techos
S.A., Galvanizadora Peruana S.A., Equipos de Remate y
Exportación S.A.C., and Aceros Holding S.A.
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6.2
Management
Francesca Carnesella (36), Corporate Image and
Communications Manager. She is an Economist from
Universidad del Pacífico, with an MBA from Universidad de
Piura, and a master’s degree, in progress, in Communications
from Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú. She has
extensive corporate image, institutional relations and
communications experience in the public and private sector.
Francesca has been advisor to the Minister of Economy and
Finance, the Minister of Energy and the President of the
Private Investment Committee, and was also appointed
Advisor to the Minister of Foreign Affairs. She has held the
office of Image and Communications Manager of BBVA
Banco Continental and the Fundación BBVA, Corporate
Image and Public Relations Manager of TIM Perú. She joined
the company in July 2004.
Eduardo Castro Mendivil (45), Finance and Corporate
Services Manager. Eduardo Castro Mendivil is a Civil
Engineer from Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú

with an MBA from University of Texas, Austin. He has broad
experience in the finance area and has held positions such
as: Finance Vice President of Corporación Custer, Corporate
Vice President of Corporación Pantel, Financial Controller
of Corporación Backus and Costs Accountant of The
Continental Companies. He has experience as Controller,
Finance Vice President and Board Member of the abovementioned companies. He joined the company in April
2006.

Giuliana Cavassa (36), Legal Manager. Giuliana Cavassa
is an Attorney from Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú,
with a post graduate degree in Civil Law from Universidad
de Salamanca, Spain. She has 11 years of experience as
attorney for the public and private sectors and worked for
the Cauvi, Ferraro Devoto & del Solar, and Delfino, Pasco,
Isola & Avendaño law firms. Moreover, during the last four
years she was working for the public sector as consultant
of the Ministry of Labor and the Ministry of Production,

together with the Vice Minister of Fisheries. She joined the
company in July 2006.

Carlos Cipra (44), Internal Auditor. Carlos Cipra, an executive professional in the Audit, Accounting, Administration
and Finance areas, is a Certified Public Accountant
with a Master’s Degree in Business Administration and
specialization in Internal Audit and Quality Management.
He has 24 years of experience in national corporations and
is characterized for his leadership skills, as well as strategic
analysis and planning. He was General Accountant and
Finance and Accounting Manager of COPEINCA before
being promoted to his current position. He joined the
company in September 1996.
Samuel Dyer Coriat (30), General Manager. Samuel Dyer
Coriat is a Business Administrator with a Master’s Degree in
Finance and Administration from the University of Miami,
Florida, USA. He began his career in COPEINCA as fleet

assistant and has broad experience in the Peruvian fishing
industry. He has held several positions in the company:
Frozen Food Plant Assistant, Plant Superintendent, Frozen
Product Plan Manager, Fleet and Operations Manager.
After gaining experience the in the different areas of the
company, he became General Manager in 2002. Since then
he has had the vision of transforming the company in a
business organization based on corporate governance.

Maura Larios (52), Health, Safety, Environment and
Quality Manager. Maura Larios is an Engineer in Food
Industries with a post graduate degree in Food Technology
Quality Control, KIN–Germany, with specialization in:
Business and Exports to Europe (PRODEC–Costa Rica),
Business Management of Health and Safety at Work (ILO–
Turín–Italy) and Socio Economic Management (ISEOR–
Colombia). She has 27 years of experience in national
corporations related to agro industry and the fishing sector.
She is fluent in German and joined the company in 2001.
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Frida Marticorena (40), Human Resources Assistant
Manager. Frida Marticorena has a Bachelor’s Degree in
Social Psychology from Pontificia Universidad Católica del
Perú with a Master’s Degree in Administration from EADA,
Barcelona, Spain and 14 years of experience in the Human
Resources area of industrial and commercial companies
such as Eternit, Corporación Drokasa, Asea Brown Boveri,
Innova Andina and Grupo La República. She joined the
company in September 2006.

Temístocles Romero (63), Fleet Manager. Temístocles
Romero is a technical professional in Electronics, with vast
experience in the fishing sector and has held key positions
in fishing companies along the Peruvian coast. He joined
the company as Head of the Supe Fleet and was later
promoted to Fleet Manager. He joined the company in
October 2002.

Mercedes Tang (40), Marketing and Sales Manager.
Mercedes Tang is an Industrial Engineer with a Master’s
Degree in Agricultural Management from Reading University
in England. She has broad experience in the foreign trade,

marketing, production administration and finance areas, in
the import and export of agricultural commodities, fresh
products and mass products, in Peruvian and multinational
companies, such as Procter & Gamble, Romero Trading,
Tradigrain del Perú y Agro Industrias Backus. She has basic
knowledge of Mandarin. She joined the company in March
2004.

Pablo Trapunsky (40), Operations Manager. Pablo
Trapunsky has a Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical
Engineering with specialization in Production Systems,
Materials and Robotics from Technion University, Israel. He
has advanced knowledge of English and other languages.
He has 15 years of experience in multinational companies
in Perú and abroad. His labor experience has been mainly
focused on projects of technical sales, construction
supervision, start-up of plants and equipment, personnel
training, and technical advisory services. He has also been
involved in other industrial processes, such as power
generation, the sugar industry, gas plants, oil refineries and
fishmeal production. He joined the company in January
2004.
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6.4

Crews, operators and employees

6.3
Superintendents

Paita – Bayóvar Plant Superintendent

Douglas Buchelli Rodríguez
Chicama Plant Superintendent

Manuel Torres Rocha
Casma Plant Superintendent

Eduardo Puyen Tejada
Huarmey Plant Superintendent

Luis Ostolaza Zavala

COPEINCA has a professional human team formed by
employees, operators and crew members, in addition to
senior management. What distinguishes us from the other
companies is that this great team has been selected –and
is trained permanently– on the basis of the company’s
corporate competencies, such as:

Effective communication
Team Work
Flexibility
Customer-oriented approach
Accomplishment-oriented approach
COPEINCA has a top level group of
professionals, which allows us to provide
optimum administrative support to the
operations areas.
The team of operators is formed by professional technicians
with expertise in the fishing and industrial sector. We have a
considerable number of expert crew members experienced
in anchovy fishing who, headed by ship masters with a
long history in this field, allows us to have one of the most
efficient fleets of the sector.
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6.5
Organization Chart
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7
C ompany policies
7.1
Human Resources Policy

COPEINCA operates under the policy of
equal conditions and opportunities for all
its personnel. These conditions apply to all its programs and
procedures, such as recruiting, selection, job assignment,
compensation, training and loans; as well as to decisions
regarding hiring, promotion, transfer or termination.

The company works on the basis of the
principle of generality, which determines
the equitable distribution of benefits
among all its personnel.
In recruiting and selecting its personnel, equal conditions
and opportunities are taken into account. Moreover,
we endeavor to give priority to our personnel to fill any
vacancies that may open, thus providing an on-going
opportunity for professional development.

With the aim of improving the individual
and group performance of our personnel, the Company, through its Human Resources area, prepares an Annual Training
Plan and develops career and succession
programs, in coordination and with the cooperation

of
managers and heads of offices, allowing us to maintain
a human team in constant learning, training and
development.

COPEINCA supports its personnel by granting loans to cover
unforeseen emergency situations that may have an economic impact, such as: illness, death, procedures to obtain a
Degree or to become a member of a Professional Association,
studies related to the job or cases of natural disasters or acts
of God, as well as to complement professional education or
cooperate towards their professional development.

We have social welfare programs in place
that seek to protect the health and improve
the quality of life of our personnel, through health campaigns, sports activities and activities that foster the
integration of employees and their families.
The compensation system is administered by the Human
Resources area and General Management, under the
following general guidelines: labor-related government
regulations, nature of the business and hierarchical levels.
Similarly, we seek to maintain a salary balance based on a
defined compensation and benefits policy.

2006 Accomplishments
• The foundations were consolidated to launch competency
management.
• A training workshop plan was designed to strengthen this
management model, as well a corporate and leadership
competencies.
•The salary scale was adjusted, designing a structure that
will enable us to compensate the personnel in accordance
with market standards.
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7.2
HSE&Q Integrated Management System
Policy

Our integrated HSE&Q (Health, Safety,
Environment & Quality) system reflects
COPEINCA’S responsible actions in all its
activities, guaranteeing our customers’
satisfaction, the health and safety of our
employees and respect for the environment. This policy allows us to identify opportunities to
improve and become aware of social and environmental
risks, which will be used as a management tool by senior
management.
In order to achieve this, we undertake to:

• Maintain an integrated management
system leading to actions with a
sustainable approach, aimed at improving the
quality of processes for the satisfaction of customers,
employees, the community, the environment, the
government, suppliers and shareholders.

• Have suitable, trained and responsive
personnel, to ensure the improvement of the mana-

ment system policy among all our
employees, providing the necessary tools for the

gement system that has been implemented.

performance of daily activities in keeping with this policy.

• Establish the measures required to
guarantee the processes, look after the
health of workers and families, prevent
safety risks and adequately manage
the environmental impact caused by
industrial activity.

Given the importance COPEINCA gives to the safety
and quality of the end product, it was decided to have a
specialized area that would form an essential part of the
integrated quality process, and would interact with other
areas such as Operations, Marketing, Sales and Human

• Implement and maintain a continuous improvement system of processes and procedures
to guaranty the efficiency of our integrated management
system and achieve compliance with the applicable legal
requirements.

• Disseminate the integrated manage-

Resources. We have set up a multidisciplinary
HSE&Q work team, in order to obtain a
unique and priceless perspective from
different viewpoints, achieving greater
support and initiatives in Environment,
Health, Safety and Quality, besides encouraging
a more solid relationship with important stakeholders for
the company, such as the communities, customers and
suppliers, thus contributing towards the responsible growth
of the company.

The objective of this new quality
management and reliability approach
is to place COPEINCA at the forefront,
with a fair reputation of engaging in best
practices and capable of integrating our
suppliers and customers in the process.
Due to the fact that the end product forms part of the food
chain, the company has the responsibility of delivering safe
and traceable food products. COPEINCA has a continuous biannual certification program in place, to ensure the correct
implementation of the HSE&Q policy, thus addressing the
demands of markets and customers, the environment and
community where it carries on its business.
After several years of sustained and profitable growth,
COPEINCA has taken on the social and environmental
implications this evolution brings along, reporting for the
first time in 2006 the results of a triple baseline in an audited
sustainability report, using recognized schemes such as
GRI/ETHOS indicators.
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8
Board of D irector s ’ R ep o rt
8.1
The macroeconomic situation

The Peruvian economy remains steady
in its macroeconomic foundations,
favored by high levels of trust by
consumers and the business sector
with regard to the economic outlook, and by a
favorable international scenario with high export prices for
minerals, oil and agricultural and fishing commodities .
In 2006, domestic variables showed the following behavior:

• The GDP registered an 8% growth, driven
by an accelerated domestic demand (private investment
and private consumption). Construction and trade were the
sectors with the highest contribution to the GDP, accounting
for 15% and 10%, respectively.

• In the foreign sector, the trade balance registered a surplus of US$8.6 billion and
exports reached US$ 23.5 billion, which
meant an increase of 35.6% with respect
to 2005. The share in traditional and non-traditional
exports represented 77% and 23% of the total exports, respectively. Mining exports accounted for 80% of traditional
exports, while fishing exports accounted for 7.3%.

• Inflation stood at 1.14%, which figure is below
the target range announced by the Central Bank of Perú
(BCRP) (1.5% - 2.5%).

• As regards the exchange rate, the sol had
a 6.7% appreciation with respect to the

dollar. The dollar also lost value with respect to other
currencies. Thus, the Euro had a 9.4% appreciation, the Yen
3.0%, and the Yuan 3.1%.
• The BCRP reference rate only increased by 100 basic points
(January-May), stabilizing at 4.5%, due to the stabilization of
the underlying inflation (1.37%), the upward trend of the
New Sol and the stabilization of the FED rate at 5.25%.

• The export sector increased its competitiveness by 26%, measured in Terms of Trade,
thanks to the rise in the international prices of the main
commodities.

• The country risk indicator (EMBI+) –spread
closed

with respect to the yield of US Treasury Bonds–

the year at 131 basic points, the lowest
after Mexico and Chile in Latin America.
As it may be noted in the attached graph, the cost of the
Peruvian debt (bond coupon rate) was situated among
the lowest in Latin American countries, as well as the total
of emerging countries that make up the EMBI index. As it
is known, the lowest this index is, the lowest the financial
cost of an emerging country will be. The downward trend
at levels of 115 basic points, implies that Peru is one step
of obtaining the rating of a country with investment grade
(the current rating for Perú according to Standard & Poor’s
is BB+) as Chile and México, whereby Peruvian companies
could receive foreign financing at a lower cost. Thus, the cost
of the Peruvian foreign debt would be less and the country
would improve is position to attract direct investments from
American and European retirement funds.
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8.2
Results of the sector

In 2006, the fishing sector exported for
a value of US$1.8 billion, 8.37% more
than in 2005 (US$1.6 billion); of which
US$1.14 billion corresponded to fishmeal,
accounting for 4.9% of the total exports.

The anchovy catch dropped by 32% and fishmeal
production showed a 35.6% contraction, while the exported value of fishmeal rose by 1%, which explains that the
drop in production was widely offset by the increase in the
international price of the resource.

Seventy percent of Peruvian fishmeal and fish oil exports is
destined to five countries: China (32.8%), Germany (13.1%),
Japan (12.6%), Chile (6.5%) and Denmark (4.5%).
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Five companies exported 49% of fishmeal and fish oil: Tasa
(19.27%), Austral (9.3%), Hayduk (7.8%), Diamante (6.4%) and
COPEINCA (5.6%).

and shrimp, which require fishmeal to feed on, resulting in a
limited replacement. The high prices paid by the consumer
for salmon in 2006 as compared to 2005, supported the
historical price record paid for fishmeal. The increase in the
world population and the concern to consume safe and
healthy products, have contributed to the growing trend to
consume fish (FAO).
During 2006, the fishing sector contributed with 0.5% to
the GDP. On the other hand, the mining sector experienced
a negative growth of 5.8%, explained by the contraction
of zinc (1.7%), lead (3.5%) and tin (9.9%). The sectors that
registered the highest growth rates were construction
(15.5%) and trade (10.7%).

The fishmeal industry was favored by the
47.9% increase in international prices (prices in
FOB terms according to the Customs Authority) due to two
main factors: Peru’s restricted supply (global quota system
established by the government) and the growing demand
of the aquiculture industry.

Given the less availability of fishmeal, its replacement
by other sources, such as vegetable origin protein, has
occurred in more flexible sectors such as the fowl, cattle
and pork industry, which were unable to transfer the high
costs of the food ration to consumers. This was not the case
of carnivorous aquiculture species, such as salmon, trout

As far as exports are concerned, during 2006 they reached
US$23.2 billion, which meant a 36.19% increase, that is
US$6.2 billion more than in 2005. This increase applied to
both traditional and non-traditional products (77.31% and
22.69%, respectively). This sector accounted for 7.6% of the
total Peruvian exports.
The sales of the traditional fishing sector reached a FOB
value of US$1.3 billion, 2.28% more than the amount
registered in 2005, fishmeal sector reached a FOB value
of US$1.1 billion, 0.95% less than the amount registered
in 2005, due to a reduction in fishing quota. In terms of
cumulative figures, the sector grew 8.37%, reaching the
figure of US$1.8 billion.
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8.3
Financial Results

During 2006, COPEINCA was able to rank
among the five most important fishing
companies of the sector. The purchase of Del Mar and
other assets in late 2005 allowed us to have more plants
and almost double our fleet. Furthermore, the purchase of
Pesquera Jadrán by the shareholders of COPEINCA enabled
us to increase our fleet from 8.700 to 11.150 m3, the fourth
most important one of the country. Furthermore, during
2006 COPEINCA’s growth and profitability recovered their
course with estimated sales of US$91 million and an EBITDA
of US$36 million, with a growth rate of 5% and 125%,
respectively, since 2004.

8.4
Corporate governance

8.4.1

8.4.2

Progress in our Corporate Governance

Goals

Throughout 2006, the company continued
implementing improvements in the corporate governance field, firstly through the
systematization and regulation of board
meetings
and, secondly, by implementing a reform that consisted in making an
assessment of the company’s good governance standards in the following areas:
• Equitable rights and treatment of shareholders.
• Shareholders’ meeting.
• Board of directors.
• Preparation and disclosure of financial and non-financial
information.

• Solution of disputes.
The assessment was sponsored by the Andean Development
Corporation (CAF), with the input of COPEINCA’s directors

and managers and the advice of the Spanish consulting
firm IIAG, resulting in three revised documents: bylaws
to address the highest corporate governance demands,
board of directors regulations and regulations for the good
operation of the Shareholders’ Meeting.

The intention is to enable COPEINCA to
generate mechanisms that will result in
equal treatment to all shareholders, make
the company as transparent as possible
in disclosing financial information to its
shareholders and to the market in general,
and guarantee successful plans for possible
changes in top positions. Part of this reform has

been
the consolidation of two committees: the Audit Committee
basically formed by independent directors and the
Compensation and Appointment Committee.

We have successfully taken the steps established with
regard to the implementation of corporate governance
practices. However, we are aware of the

importance of continuing to make
improvements. The following has been
particularly contemplated for 2007:
At the shareholder level:

• Complete the reform of the bylaws with the aim of making
them compatible with the new corporate structure headed
by COPEINCA – ASA of Norway.
• Systematize the relationship with the Norwegian capital
market and look into the possibility of entering the Peruvian
capital market.
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At the board of directors level:

• Continue with the policy of maintaining a majority of
independent directors.
•

Establish an adequate self-assessment system for the
Board members.

•

Continue improving coordination mechanisms with
Senior Management in order to obtain the necessary
information in a timely fashion and analyzed in depth at
the time of making decisions.

• Fine tune the Code of Ethics for the entire organization,
taking into account the new reality of being a publicly held
company.

At the management level:

8.5

• Define an organization that will remain stable during the

Contingency Plan and Risk Factors

next three to five years.

• Perfect the information system, so that it may be accessed
efficiently and provide the tools required to analyze it, in a
clear and transparent fashion.

• Implement a new incentive system: the Compensation and
Bonus Committee decided to change the incentive bonus
based on the accomplishment of objectives established in
the annual plan, with the aim of improving the profitability
and efficiency of the business.

• Permanently improve the ability to analyze and efficiently
manage risks.

• Perfect mechanisms to provide, efficiently and in real time,
the best information possible to shareholders, third parties
and capital markets.

Raw Material: Anchovy moves at random in the sea
and is exposed to climatologic phenomena, the most
important one being the so-called “El Niño” Phenomenon.
During a “El Niño” event, the sea temperature rises and
anchovy moves deeper into the sea looking for cool
waters. Depth makes it impossible to catch it, affecting
fishing companies. This smaller catch is partially offset by
an increase in the prices of finished products (fishmeal, fish
oil). COPEINCA’s main loan agreements contain a clause
whereby it only pays interest during this type of events.
International FM and FO prices: These prices
are driven by supply (mainly in Perú) and demand (from
China as a country and aquiculture as item). An important
price variation would strongly impact the company’s sales

and profits. COPEINCA is working with its customers under
medium term agreements to gradually reach agreements,
first on quantity and then on quantity and prices. These
agreements will allow to partially reduce the effects of a
possible sudden variation in selling prices.

Acquisition Integration: During its 12 years of
existence, COPEINCA has acquired various assets and/or
companies. Its management has experience in acquisition
processes and the subsequent merger of assets and
companies. It has an integrated SAP system in place, which
ensures an adequate control and allows quick integration of
other companies to the system. In addition, COPEINCA will
strengthen its structure to be able to responsibly manage
the company’s growth.
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9
8.6

S h a re ho l de r s a nd s h a re ho l d ing struc ture

Events after 2006

On January 29, 2007 COPEINCA started
trading its shares in the Oslo Stock
Exchange (OSE), after a successful private
placement of US$100 million, thus becoming part
of a very competitive group of nine fishing companies
already listed in the Oslo Stock Exchange, with total a stock
market capitalization valued at US$8 billion.

Thus, COPEINCA has become the first
foreign fishing company to be listed in
Norway, the most competitive global
market for companies engaged in the
fishing industry, providing it a promising foundation to
implement COPEINCA’s growth strategy.
At the time of the placement we already had a total of 146
shareholders, two of whom hold a 61.54% participating
interest in the company (founding shareholders of the Dyer
Group), shifting from a purely family enterprise to a publicly
held company, with all the obligations this entails.
Parallel to this, the Board members of COPEINCA ASA, a
company incorporated in Norway owner of COPEINCA S.A.,
were appointed, as follows: Chairman, Wilfredo Cáceres
Monroe; Vice Chairman, Christian Selmer and Directors:
Samuel Dyer Ampudia, Luis Dyer Ampudia, Rosa Coriat
Valera, Piero Dyer Coriat, Synne Syrrist, Mimi Kristine Berdal
and Isabelle Lodding Gresvig.

on
February 18, 2007 COPEINCA signed a
memorandum of intent to merge with Fish
Protein and Pesquera Ribar. With this merger,

On the other hand, Pesquera Ribar has one of the most
efficient fleets of the country. On average, its nine vessels
account for 2.7% of the total anchovy catch of Perú. One
hundred percent of the fleet is equipped with a modern
recirculating sea water system, making them the only ones
capable of refrigerating anchovy in the Peruvian industry.
On its part, Fish Protein accounts for 3.9% of the country’s
total fishmeal production, with 2.3% of Peru’s total
processing capacity.

Furthermore, during this quarter a
memorandum of intent was reached
to acquire 100% of the shares of Pacific
Fishing Business (PFB). PFB owns a plant in the port

COPEINCA S.A., in Perú, is engaged in the
extraction of anchovy and production of
fishmeal and fish oil; the Spanish com-

of Chancay with a capacity of 60 mt/hr (0.67% of the
industry’s total). In addition, it has 6 vessels with a total
capacity of 2,338 m3 (1.11% of the total). The PFB plant will
allow COPEINCA to expand its range of operations towards
the country’s south coast.

It has been anticipated that these
transactions will allow COPEINCA to attain
8.96% of the total plant capacity and 8.42%
of the total fleet capacity of the Peruvian
fishing sector. Both transactions are subject to the execution of a share purchase agreement and the completion of a
satisfactory due diligence process approved by COPEINCA’s
Shareholders’ Meeting, all of which is expected to occur in
the next few months.

In keeping with its sustained growth strategy,

CO-PEINCA would increase its fleet capacity from 11,150 m3
to 15,342 m3 (a 37.6% growth) and its plant capacity from
552 mt/hr to 737 mt/hr (a 33.5% increase). Moreover, this
agreement would allow COPEINCA to gain access to the
best technologies of the sector.

During 2006, the shareholders of Corporación Pesquera
Inca S.A. decided to list part of the company shares in the
Oslo Stock Exchange, Norway, taking into account that
this is primarily a fishing country, whose stock exchange is
specialized in this sector. In order to be able to list the shares
directly from Norway, it was decided to change the company
structure, incorporating COPEINCA ASA in that country and
COPEINCA INTERNACIONAL S.L (ETVE) in Spain.

Chairman Wilfredo Cáceres Monroe
Vice Chairman Daniel Córdova Cayo
Director Samuel Dyer Ampudia
Director Luis Dyer Ampudia
Director Piero Dyer Coriat
Director Rosa Coriat Valera
Director Walter Chúmbez Panesi

pany, COPEINCA INTERNACIONAL S.L is
in charge of marketing and sales; and
COPEINCA ASA in Norway is the holding
company.
In late January 2007, COPEINCA ASA listed the equivalent
of 38% of the value of the company in the Oslo Stock
Exchange. These shares (15.5 million) were purchased by a
group of 144 investors, most of which are Norwegian and
other market investment funds. The Dyer family, founder of
Corporación Pesquera Inca S.A., holds 62% of the company
shares.

COPEINCA ASA
COPEINCA
Internacional S.L.
COPEINCA S.A.

Norway: holding

Peru: extraction and production

Spain: commercial management and sales

Copeinca ASA Shareholders
Shareholders

Number of shares in COPEINCA ASA

Participating interest %

8,293,120
7,539,200
3,630,720
753,920
753,920
753,920
753,920
386,880
386,880
386,880
386,880
386,880
386,880

20.58%
18.71%
9.01%
1.87%
1.87%
1.87%
1.87%
0.96%
0.96%
0.96%
0.96%
0.96%
0.96%

Founding Shareholders
Rosa Amelia Coriat Valera
Samuel Edward Dyer Ampudia
Osterlin Luis Dyer Ampudia
Andrés Dyer Coriat
Jackeline Rosa Dyer Coriat
Piero Martín Dyer Coriat
Samuel Barnaby Dyer Coriat
David Arturo Dyer Fernández
Luis Williams Dyer Fernández
Rodrigo Israel Dyer Fernández
Sergio Iván Dyer Osorio
William Paul Dyer Osorio
Yasmín Ellie Dyer Osorio
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10
COPEINCA ASA Shareholders
Shareholders

C o r p o ra te Go v e r na nc e Asse ssme nt
Number of shares in COPEINCA ASA

Participating interest %

New shareholders (first 20)
FL Trading AS
Orkla ASA
First Mercantile Net Ventures Fund II Ltd.
Samherji/Sildarvinnslan
South Winds
DnB NOR
QVT
Glitnir Equity Investments
Sopica Special Opportunities Fund
Lani Development
Montrica
MP Pensjon
Eikos
AB Stena Finans
Ojada AS
Lehman Brothers
Catella Europa
Loligo AS
Pecunia
Umoe Invest AS

1,550,000
1,550,000
1,500,000
1,301,750
898,750
797,500
780,000
773,250
750,000
646,000
380,000
325,000
289,750
248,500
248,500
230,000
207,000
207,000
207,000
207,000

3.85%
3.85%
3.72%
3.23%
2.23%
1.98%
1.94%
1.92%
1.86%
1.60%
0.94%
0.81%
0.72%
0.62%
0.62%
0.57%
0.51%
0.51%
0.51%
0.51%

Number of shares in COPEINCA ASA

Participating interest %

Founders
Institutional Investors
Professional Investors
Retail

24,800,000
13,857,000
1,444,000
199,000

61.54%
34.38%
3.58%
0.49%

Total shares

40,300,000

Type of shareholders

The Board of Directors voluntarily publishes its self-assessment, as required by
CONASEV from issuing companies. As it was done in 2005, in our 2006 self-assessment
we have avoided being self-indulgent, aware of the improvements still to be made in
terms of corporate governance.

Principle
1. The agenda should not include generic
topics. Each item to be discussed at the
meeting must be included as an agenda
item in order to be discussed separately,
thus making it easier to analyze each
topic and avoid jointly resolving issues
in respect of which the shareholders or
directors could have different opinions.
(Principle I.C.1, second paragraph)

0

Fulfillment Level
1

2

3

X

Said items must be of interest to the
corporation and consistent with the legal
or statutory duties of the shareholders´
meeting. The Board of Directors cannot
unreasonably reject a request for the
inclusion of agenda items.
(Principle I.C.2)

X

Justification for alternative chosen
Generic topics are usually not included
in Shareholders´ and Board Meetings’
agendas.

X

2. The place where shareholders´ meetings
are held must be clearly indicated in order
to make it easier for shareholders to attend
said meetings.
(Principle I.C.1., third paragraph)
3. Shareholders should be given the
chance, within reasonable limits, to
include some items in the shareholders´
meeting agenda.

4

The meetings are held at the corporate
offices, in Lima.

Shareholders have the chance to include
items in the agenda, provided they do it
duly advance and the Board of Directors
approves the respective agenda items.
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Principle
4. The bylaws should not impose limits on
the shareholders´ right to be represented
by proxy at the shareholders´ meetings.

0

Fulfillment Level
1

2

3

X

X

5. If the corporation issues non-voting
shares or other securities, it is advisable
to give the holders of said shares and
securities the chance to exchange them
for ordinary voting shares, or otherwise
contemplate this possibility at the time of
their issuance.
(Principle II.A.1, third paragraph)
6. A sufficient number of directors capable
of making an unbiased decision on issues
that could potentially involve a conflict of
interests should be elected. To this end,
the possibility of electing shareholders
that have no control over the corporation
could be considered.
Independent directors are directors whose
election is based on their professional
good name and are not related to the
corporation’s management or to its main
shareholders.
(Principle II.B)
Relationship is defined in the Regulations
on Indirect Ownership, Relationship and
Economic Group approved by means of
CONASEV Resolution N° 722-97-EF/94.10,
and in subsequent general resolutions
enacted by CONASEV. Main shareholders
shall be understood to mean all those
individuals or legal entities that own five
percent or more of the issuer’s capital
stock.

4

X

Justification for alternative chosen

Principle

The bylaws do not impose any
limit whatsoever, except for those
contemplated in the applicable legal
rules and in the bylaws.
Article 14 of the bylaws authorizes
shareholders to be represented by
proxy, whether or not the proxy is a
shareholder.

7. Although independent audits usually
focus on the examination of financial
information, they can also cover other
areas like accounting, operations and
information technology, evaluation of
projects, evaluation or implementation
of cost systems, tax audits, appraisals for
asset adjustment, portfolio assessment,
inventories or other special services.

At present all Copeinca shares are
ordinary. All shares have voting rights.

The company has external directors who
are not related to management, as well
as independent external directors not
related to management or the main
company shareholders. Notwithstanding,
there is still not a system in place to
regularly assess the Board of Directors.

0

Fulfillment Level
1

2

3

X

4

Justification for alternative chosen
PricewaterhouseCoopers is the external
auditor.
Ernst & Young is the accounting / tax
auditor.
Estudio Pizarro, Botto & Escobar is the
legal auditor.

It is advisable to have these audits
conducted by different auditors; however,
if the same auditor conducts all these
audits, then an unbiased opinion should
be guaranteed. The corporation must
report on all audits conducted and
specialized reports issued by the auditor.
It must inform of all the services rendered
by the auditing firm or auditor to the
corporation, itemizing the percentage
of each such service and its share in the
revenues of the auditing firm or auditor.
(Principle IV.C., second, third and fourth
paragraphs)
X

8. All requests for information made by
the shareholders, investors in general or
stakeholders related to the corporation
must be channeled through a single
instance and/or person designated for
such purpose.
(Principle IV. D.2)
9. The corporation must clarify all doubts
regarding the confidential character of the
information requested by shareholders or
stakeholders related to the corporation.
The criteria to be borne in mind for this
purpose must be adopted by the Board of
Directors and ratified by the Shareholders´
Meeting and included in the bylaws or
internal regulations of the corporation. In

General Management, through the
Chairman of the Board, is in charge
of receiving all requests from said
groups and coordinating the answers,
either directly or through the Board of
Directors.

X
As from October 2005 every confidential
project has a list of participants who
have the obligation not to disclose
information.
The company is concerned about
protecting the confidentiality of information for the purpose of mitigating the
risk of endangering company interests,

COPEINCA 06

46

Principle

0

Fulfillment Level
1

2

3

In any event, the disclosure of information
should not jeopardize the corporation’s
competitive position, nor should it affect
the normal conduct of business.
(Principle IV.D.3)

4

Justification for alternative chosen

Principle

contemplated in the bylaws.

making sure that a transparent formal
procedure is followed to elect company
directors.
(Principle V.D.3)

10. The corporation must retain the services of an internal auditor. In discharging
his duties, the internal auditor must be
professionally independent from the corporation that retains his services. He must
abide by the same principles of diligence,
loyalty and confidentiality required from
the Board of Directors and Management.
(Principle IV.F, first paragraph)

X

The duties of this area are defined in
the Internal Audit Bylaws. Furthermore,
the Audit Committee is formed by 4
directors, three of whom are external.
The duties of the Audit Committee are
governed by Regulations approved by
the Board of Directors.

11. The Board of Directors has certain key
duties, as follows:
Evaluate, approve and manage the
corporate strategy; define the company’s
objectives, targets, and main action plans;
establish the risk follow-up, control and
management policy, annual budgets and
business plans; control their implementation;
and oversee the main expenses, investments,
purchases and sales.
(Principle V.D.1)

X

According to the corporate bylaws,
the Board of Directors is in charge of
conducting the company’s business,
approving contracts involving more than
US$500,000, and preparing the annual
report and the financial statements.

12. The Board of Directors has certain key
duties, as follows:
Select, control and, whenever necessary,
replace the company’s main officers, fixing
their compensation.
(Principle V.D.2)

13. The Board of Directors has certain key
duties, as follows:
Evaluate the compensation system applicable to the main company officers and
to the members of the Board of Directors,

X

According to the company bylaws, the
Board of Directors is in charge of appointing and removing managers, fixing their
salary, and establishing their obligations.
The Board of Directors fulfills this duty
through the Compensation, Incentive
Bonus and Revenue Committee.
X

According to the company bylaws,
the Board of Directors fulfills this duty
relying on the proposals made by the
Compensation, Incentive Bonus and
Revenue Committee.

0

Fulfillment Level
1

2

X

14. The Board of Directors has certain key
duties, as follows:
Conduct a follow-up of and control all
possible conflicts of interest between
Management, the Board of Directors and
the shareholders, including the fraudulent
use of corporate assets and abuse of
transactions between interested parties.
(Principle V.D.4)
15. The Board of Directors has certain key
duties, as follows:
Look after the integrity of the company’s
accounting systems and financial
statements, including independent audits
and proper control systems, particularly
financial and non-financial risk control and
compliance with the law.
(Principle V.D.5)

X

X

4

Justification for alternative chosen

According to the company bylaws, the
Board of Directors performs these duties.

According to the corporate bylaws, the
Board of Directors performs these duties.
Moreover, the Board of Directors receives
and approves the opinion issued by the
company’s independent auditors.

X

16. The Board of Directors has certain key
duties, as follows:
Oversee the effectiveness of corporate
governance practices, introducing changes as required.
(Principle V.D.6)
17. The Board of Directors has certain key
duties, as follows:
Supervise the company’s information
disclosure policy.
(Principle V.D.7)

3

A special consultancy in corporate
governance conducted in 2006 gave rise
to changes in the actions adopted by the
Board of Directors.

According to the corporate bylaws, the
Board of Directors performs this duty
through the Corporate Governance and
Image Committee. However, there is still
some work to be done to systematize the
financial information and disclose it to
the market.
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Principle
18. The Board of Directors can set up special
committees, according to the needs and
size of the corporation, particularly a
committee to be in charge of the audit
function. These special bodies can deal
with appointment, compensation, control
and planning issues.

0

Fulfillment Level
1

2

3

X

Justification for alternative chosen

Principle

The special bodies are:

sion-making process. (Principle V.F., third
paragraph)

1. Institutional Image Committee
2.Compensation, Incentive Bonus and
Revenue Committee
3.Internal Audit Committee
Independent external directors will
participate in all these committees to
ensure the adequate impartiality.

They will play a support role within the
Board of Directors and must be preferably
composed of independent directors
in order to make unbiased decisions
regarding issues in respect of which
conflicts of interest may arise.
(Principle V.E.1.)
19. The number of members of the Board
of Directors must guarantee plurality
opinion within the Board, in order for
decisions to be adopted after appropriate
deliberation and always bearing in mind
the best interests of the corporation and
its shareholders.
(Principle V.E.3)

X

20. The information on the topics to
be discussed at each meeting must be
made available to the directors in a timely
fashion in order to be previously analyzed,
except for strategic matters that require
confidentiality, where it will be necessary
to establish appropriate mechanisms
in order for the directors to adequately
evaluate said matters.
(Principle V.F, second paragraph)

X

21. According to clearly established
policies, the Board of Directors decides
when to retain specialized advisory
services, as required by the corporation for

4

The number of members of the Board
of Directors guarantees plurality
opinion within the Board, which in turn
guarantees that decisions are adopted
after appropriate deliberation.
However, the requirements to be met
in order to be admitted to the Board as
an independent director are still to be
formally established.

X

The Board of Directors receives the
information on the topics to be discussed
at each meeting duly in advance, in order
to guarantee its proper analysis and
discussion.

The Board of Directors, at the suggestion
of Management, approves the retaining
of specialized services.

Fulfillment Level

Justification for alternative chosen

22. New directors must be briefed
on their duties and obligations and
the characteristics and organizational
structure of the corporation.
(Principle V.H.1)

X

New directors are briefed on their duties
as Board members, as well as on the
organizational structure. However, there
is not a specific methodology in place for
this.

23. The procedures to be followed by the
Board of Directors to elect one or more
replacements if no alternate directors have
been appointed and the position of one
or more directors becomes vacant should
be established, in order to complete the
required number of directors during
the period still to run to complete their
terms in office, when the bylaws do not
contemplate a different treatment.
(Principle V.H.3)

X

A procedure that will go into effect in
2007 has been established.

0

1

2

3

4

24. The duties and obligations of the Chairman, the Executive President, if applicable,
and the General Manager must be clearly
defined in the bylaws or internal regulations of the corporation, in order to avoid
duplicity of roles and potential conflicts.
(Principle V.I, first paragraph)

X

The corporate bylaws describe the duties
and obligations of the Board of Directors
as a registered body, as well as those of
the General Manager.

25. As regards its organizational structure,
the corporation must avoid concentrating
all its duties and obligations on the
Chairman, the Executive President, if
applicable, the General Manager, and
other managing officers.
(Principle VI. , second paragraph)

X

The duties and obligations of each officer
are clearly described in the corporate
bylaws to avoid concentrating all the
duties and obligations on a single officer.
However, the mechanisms actually
applied by the corporation are still to
be brought into alignment with the
mechanisms contemplated in the bylaws,
which may require an amendment to the
bylaws.
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11
Principle
26. It is advisable to have at least part of the
managers compensation paid on the basis
of company results, in order to guarantee
the fulfillment of one of the companies
objectives: maximize the company’s value
for the benefit of its shareholders.
(Principle V.I.5.)

0

Fulfillment Level
1

2

3

X

4

C ommi tte e s

Justification for alternative chosen
A success bonus has been established.

11.1
Institutional Image Committee
Chaired by Wilfredo Cáceres

The Institutional Image Committee is formed by all the Board
Members and receives advice from ACIERTO Comunicación
Efectiva SAC.
The objective of this Committee is to consolidate a favorable
image of COPEINCA among the company’s institutional
audiences, suppliers, third party fleet, banks, associations
and opinion leaders, means of communications, the
community, customers, personnel, among others.
To this end, perception and attitude surveys are conducted
among the target audiences, in order to recommend the
best communication strategies to be used with each one.
Moreover, a corporate identity manual has been developed
and we have updated communications tools in which the

various managements and company offices participate:
web site, institutional magazine, internal and external
communiques, institutional videos, among others and
smooth and ongoing mechanisms have been established
with the country’s main media.
Members:
Samuel Dyer Ampudia
Luis Dyer Ampudia
Daniel Córdova Cayo
Wilfredo Cáceres Monroe
With the support of:
Francesca Carnesella –
Image and Communications Manager
Frequency of meetings:
Fortnightly
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11.2
Compensation, Incentive Bonus and

Internal Audit Committee

11.3

Revenue Committee

Chaired by Wilfredo Cáceres

Chaired by Daniel Córdova

This committee is formed by all Board members and
the General Manager of COPEINCA. In keeping with the
company’s strategy, the mission of this committee is to
define and approve the organization chart and create the
necessary mechanisms to recruit and retain the best people
for all areas, establishing performance-based compensation
policies to simultaneously achieve excellence and job
satisfaction both at a company and employee level.
As scheduled, this committee met on a quarterly basis and
worked exhaustively on its agenda. As a result of this, it
approved the organization chart for 2006 and the company’s
compensation and incentive policies.

Chaired by Daniel Córdova
The Internal Audit Committee must be made up of a
minimum of three members of the Board of Directors who
may not fill any management position in the company.
Its main objective is to ensure the efficiency and efficacy of
internal processes and oversee the fulfillment of rules, policies and objectives, including applicable laws and regulations in force. It must also be thoroughly aware of all financial
and operating information, the company’s business model,
the risks associated with its economic activities, and its longterm sustainability. In summary the committee must make
sure that the company has the necessary control systems in
place in all fields and that these systems are permanently
updated to guarantee their optimum operation.

The Committee agreed to replace the production-based
incentive system by an objective-based incentive system that
calls for the fulfillment of specific objectives established for
each area. To this end, an evaluation and justification system
that requires the involvement of immediate supervisors and
the Human Resources Area was established.

During 2006, this committee held six meetings that resulted
in the approval of the Risk Assessment System, the Annual
Plan and work programs. All these documents were prepared
by PricewaterhouseCoopers.

On the other hand, it was agreed to create a general
compensation table that is to be updated on a yearly basis
and approved by General Management and the Committee.
It will also serve to fix the salary of new employees.

As recommended in the Annual Plan, the Internal Audit
Committee increased its number of members, and is now
made up of one internal auditor, three senior auditors
and one assistant. New bylaws were also approved for the
internal audit area, and it was agreed to entrust this area with
the review of the company’s quarterly financial statements.

A compensation adjustment program has also been
developed based on the salary survey conducted by
PricewaterhouseCoopers, which compares COPEINCA’s
salaries with the rest of the market.

The committee was also entrusted with the task of reviewing
all company processes before shifting to SAP, in order to
identify control points in each process.

Members:
Piero Dyer Coriat
Luis Dyer Ampudia
Daniel Córdova Cayo
Wilfredo Cáceres Monroe
Frequency of Meetings:
Quarterly

11.4

Corporate Governance Reform
Committee

Members:
Piero Dyer Coriat
Daniel Córdova Cayo
Wilfredo Cáceres Monroe
With the support of:
Carlos Cipra – Internal Auditor
Frequency of Meetings:
Monthly

The Corporate Governance Reform Committee was a
temporary Committed that met throughout 2006 for the
purpose of implementing a deep reform of the company’s
governance rules aimed at situating at international levels
and thus achieve the expected success in the international
capital markets.
Advised by the Spanish Consulting Firm IAGG and with the
support of the Andean Development Corporation (CAF), the
Committee worked on a detailed diagnosis and within an
implementation process which produced three documents
that will be submitted to the Shareholders’ Meeting in
2007: a new version of the company bylaws, regulations for
the Shareholders’ Meetings and regulations for the Board
Meetings.
During 2006, this committee met approximately twenty
times. Pending is the adjustment of the company’s
documents to the corporate governance guidelines
resulting form the listing of our shares in the Norway Stock
Exchange.
Members:
Walter Chumbez Panesi
Wilfredo Cáceres Monroe
Giuliana Cavassa
Samuel Dyer Ampudia
Mónica del Río
Frequency of Meetings:
Bimonthly
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CORPORACION PESQUERA INCA S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CORPORACION PESQUERA INCA S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

ASSETS
Non - Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Licenses
Other intangible assets
Goodwill
Financial assets
Other long-term accounts receivable

Current assets
Inventories
Trade accounts receivable
Other accounts receivable
Cash and cash equivalents

Note

2006
US$000

As of 31 December
2005
US$000

6
7
7
8

100.122
34.997
2.728
7.225
3
1.187
146.262

81.245
20.580
1.901
2
150
103.878

17.266
14.235
8.370
1.075
40.946

10.361
13.815
10.541
278
34.995

187.208

138.873

10

11
9
10

Total assets
EQUITY
Share capital
Investment shares
Shares of controlled entity
Other reserves
Cumulative translation adjustment
Retained earnings
Total equity

12
12
12
13
13
13

28.006
41
3
1.844
3.694
13.489
47.077

28.006
44
1.844
(638)
3.475
32.731

15
16
14

52.634
28.522
81.156

47.957
15.338
2.187
65.482

15
14
14

Total liabilities

20.539
7.512
5.852
2.652
22.420
58.975
140.131

17.490
8.648
3.821
647
10.054
40.660
106.142

Total equity and liabilities

187.208

138.873

LIABILITIES
Non - Current liabilities
Long-term borrowings
Deferred income tax
Trade accounts payable
Current liabilities
Bank overdrafts and loans
Trade accounts payable
Other accounts payable
Tax payable
Current portion of long-term borrowings

15

Notes from 1 to 31 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Note

Sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

17

2006
US$000

For the year ended 31 December
2005
US$000

89.888
(45.461)
44.427

82.290
(56.673)
25.617

Selling expenses
Administrative expenses
Negative goodwill
Other income
Other expenses
Operating profit

18
19
5
20
20

(5.331)
(12.769)
4.073
(6.813)
23.587

(7.961)
(9.394)
3.143
2.694
(2.182)
11.917

Finance expenses
Finance income
Exchange differences, net
Profit before Income tax

23

(10.718)
476
4.803
18.148

(5.450)
579
(3.267)
3.779

Workers’ profit sharing
Income tax expense
Profit for the year

25
25

(2.214)
(5.920)
10.014

(735)
(2.043)
1.001

0,099

0,010

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity holders
of the Company during the period (US$ per share):
Basic earnings per share
26

Notes from 1 to 31 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORACION PESQUERA INCA S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balances as of 1 January 2005
Incorporation of investment shares
Exchange difference
Profit for the year
Balances as of 31 December 2005

Balances as of 1 January 2006
Shares of controlled entity
Purchase of investment shares
Exchange difference
Profit for the year
Balances as of 31 December 2006

Note

“Share capital “
US$000

Investment shares
US$000

Shares of
controlled entity
US$000

Other reserves
US$000

Cumulative
translation adjustment
US$000

Retained earnings
US$000

Total Equity
US$000

12 - 13

12 - 13

28.006
28.006

44
44

-

1.844
1.844

827
(44)
(1.421)
(638)

2.474
1.001
3.475

33.151
(1.421)
1.001
32.731

12 - 13

28.006
28.006

44
(3)
41

3
3

1.844
1.844

(638)
4.332
3.694

3.475
10.014
13.489

32.731
3
(3)
4.332
10.014
47.077

Notes from 1 to 31 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORACION PESQUERA INCA S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CORPORACION PESQUERA INCA S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Note

Cash flows generated from operating activities
Cash from operations
Interest paid
Income tax paid
Net cash provided by (applied to) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Sale of fixed assets
Purchase of intangible assets
Net cash applied to investing activities

24

5
6
6
7

Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of bank overdrafts and loans
Bank overdrafts and loans obtained
Payment of long-term borrowings
Long-term debt obtained
Purchase of investment shares
Other collections related to the activity
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash
Translation difference
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

31 DECEMBER 2006 AND 2005

2006
US$000

For the year ended of 31 December
2005
US$000

35.178
(10.717)
(4.208)
20.253

1.988
(5.676)
(939)
(4.627)

(29.841)
(5.975)
3.063
(1.028)
(33.781)

-8.073
-13.813
989
-9.520
(30.417)

(4.783)
6.515
(16.767)
29.326
(3)
14.288

(64.924)
65.035
(5.826)
38.842
1.634
34.761

760
37
278
1.075

(283)
(14)
575
278

1 GENERAL INFORMATION
a)

Operations -

Corporación Pesquera Inca S.A., its subsidiary Pesca
Peru Huarmey S.A., in which it has a 100% interest, and
Pesquera Jadran S.A. (hereinafter COPEINCA and the Group,
respectively), are consolidated from the date when control is
transferred to the Group (29 August, 2005 and 21 September,
2006) as established under IFRS 3 (Note 2.2), and are mainly
engaged in the extraction of several hydro-biological
species and their subsequent transformation into fish meal
and fish oil, for direct or indirect human consumption. Their
products are mainly sold in foreign markets.
As of 31 December, 2006 COPEINCA is a subsidiary of
Copeinca Internacional S.L. (located in Spain) which has a
99.99% interest. As of 31 December, 2005 COPEINCA was a
subsidiary of D&C Group S.A. (located in Peru) which held a
76% interest.
COPEINCA is also entitled to, but is currently not engaged in,
fishing activities for direct human consumption, industrial
processing and manufacturing of sea product concentrates,
canned fish, ice, frozen products and other by-products.
In addition, since May 2002 COPEINCA is entitled to, but

Fish - processing plants

Owned by COPEINCA:
Bayovar
Chicama

Line of production

Steam Dried (SD)
Fair Average Quality (FAQ)
Steam Dried (SD)
Fair Average Quality (FAQ)

COPEINCA is a stock company incorporated and domiciled
in Peru. The address of its registered office is Calle Francisco
Graña 155, Urbanización Santa Catalina, La Victoria, Lima,
Peru.
The Group operates five fish-processing plants located in
the cities of Paita, Bayovar, Chicama, Casma and Huarmey,
located in the departments of Piura, La Libertad, Ancash and
Lima. Four of these plants are owned by COPEINCA and the
other one is owned by its subsidiary Pesca Peru Huarmey
S.A. (Huarmey).
These plants manufacture fish meal and fish oil by using the
systems of steam drying and by direct heat (in separate lines),
known as Steam Dried (SD) and Fair Average Quality (FAQ),
respectively. The SD lines manufacture a variety of fish meal,
such as “Prime”, “Super Prime”, “Taiwan”, “Thai” and “Standard”,
with better quality and prices than FAQ fish meal.
The capacity of the production lines of each fish processing
plant is as follows:

Capacity
MT/Hour

50
120
60
60

Casma
Paita

Steam Dried (SD)
Fair Average Quality (FAQ)

80
90

Subsidiary:
Huarmey

Fair Average Quality (FAQ)

92

Steam Dried (SD)
Fair Average Quality (FAQ)

25
75

Owned by third parties:
Chimbote (until May 2005)

Notes from 1 to 31 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

is currently not engaged in, providing advisory services,
management and administration to other companies and
individuals, covering a wide area of the fishing industry
within the scope of its social objective as a company.
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In addition, Bayovar has a plant of frozen products with
license to manufacture up to 100 MT/day of finished
products which total production was intended for export.
The plant’s operations were stopped in November 2005.
The frozen products business was not regarded as a major
line of business (less than 5% of total revenue and less than
0.5% of gross profit). In the year 2005 the hold revenues
generated by this operation was US$3,041,000.
In April 2004 COPEINCA signed a lease agreement with
Pesquera Tauro S.A., by means of which COPEINCA leases
the fish meal and fish oil production plant located in Casma,
Ancash, Peru. In August 2005, COPEINCA acquired such
production plant for an amount of US$3,899,000.
As of 31 December, 2006 the Group has 42 vessels with
storage capacity of 11,627 M3 which corresponds to 36 purse
seiner vessels with a capacity of 10,869 M3 and 6 trawling
vessels with storage capacity of 758 M3 (As of December 31,
2005 COPEINCA had 26 vessels with a capacity of 7,130 M3
which correspond a 23 purse seiner vessels with a capacity
of 6,789 M3 and 3 trawling vessels with storage capacity of
341 M3). In addition, COPEINCA leases 1 purse seiner vessel
with storage capacity of 387 M3 and 5 trawling vessels
with storage capacity of 502 M3 (As of 31 December, 2005
COPEINCA leased 6 purse seiner vessels with a capacity of
2,051 M3 and 5 trawling vessels with storage capacity of 378
M3).
In 2006 the Group processed 333,549 M3 of raw materials
(411,300 M3 in 2005) of which 193,702 M3 (234,021 M3
in 2005) were extracted by its own fleet and 139,847 M3
(177,279 M3 in 2005) through third parties.
On 30 August, 2005 COPEINCA signed a loan agreement
with Credit Suisse for an amount of up to US$31,000,000
in order to prepay short-term and medium-term financial
debt of US$18,580,000 and obtain working capital of
US$4,386,000. From the US$31 million, COPEINCA used
US$7,750,000, to acquire approximately 100% of shares of
Del Mar S.A. which gave Copeinca controlling interest over
the Pesca Perú Huarmey S.A., a company in which Del Mar
S.A. has a 100% interest.
COPEINCA’s Board of Directors has approved on 29 March,

2007 and 21 December, 2006 the issue of the consolidated
financial statements as of 31 December 2006 and 2005
respectively, prepared under International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).
b)

Regulatory framework -

The Group activities are governed by Decree-Law No. 25977
- General Fishing Law and its regulations, Supreme-Decree
No. 012-2001-PE, governing the fishing activity to promote
its sustainable growth as a source of food, employment
and income and ensure a responsible exploitation of
hydro-biological resources, by optimizing economic
benefits, consistent with the environment and bio-diversity
conservation.
The administration and control of the fishing activity
nation-wide is presently the responsibility of the Peruvian
Ministry of Production, which, in addition to organizing
and centralizing the statistical economic and financial
information in accordance with the rules of the National
System of Statistics, establishes, during the year, fishing bans
(or fishing time restrictions) to preserve some sea species,
such as anchovy, sardine and hake. These fishing bans are
fixed during the reproductive stage of such species or when
the annual fishing quota has been reached.
These fishing time restrictions affect the Group´s operations
because they limit the amount of sea species caught
intended for the production of fish meal and fish oil.
During the course of 2006 and 2005 a temporary regime of
fishing activity was in effect with periodic fishing permits in
technically permissible zones for extraction and processing.
During the course of 2006, said provisional fishing regime
considered within the general fishing regime of the ban
period, the area between the northern border of Peru
(border with Ecuador) and parallel 16°S (south of the Port of
Pisco), which represented 47 days of permission to fish (102
days in 2005). Additionally, adverse weather factors, such as
El Niño, or the cooling down of the sea waters, negatively
affected the levels of catch of hydro-biological species.
The Peruvian General Fishing Law establishes that fishing
licenses are those specific rights that the Fishing Ministry
grants to carry out fishing activities. Fishing licenses are

granted in respect of each specific fishing vessel.
Regulations to the General Peruvian Fishing Law establishes
that, in order to maintain the license, every year in January
the fishing boat owners should file within the related
government agency of the Peruvian Ministry of Production,
the following: (a) a notarized sworn statement, declaring
that the capacity of the vessel stated and authorized in its
license has not been increased; (b) evidence of the working
conditions of its fishing vessels; (c) statement stating to have
performed fish catching activities during the prior period;
and, (d) payment of the related fishing right fee.
The aforementioned legislation also establishes that in
the event of sinking, destruction, export or dismantling of
vessels, the vessel owner is entitled to obtain a license for
another vessel or for an increase in the storage capacity of
another fishing vessel, provided that the storage capacity of
the vessels which originally had the license is not exceeded.
Peruvian legislation contains no limitation for exercising this
right.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting polices applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These polices have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these consolidated financial statements unless
otherwise stated.
2.1

Basis of preparation -

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as of 31
December 2006 and 2005 and for the years then ended have
been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for:
•

Certain property, plant and equipment and vessels
have been revalued at 1 January 2004 to determine
their deemed cost as part of the First-Time Adoption of
IFRS at that date.

•
•

Options which have been measured at fair value.
The assets acquired through business combinations,
which are stated at fair value as determined on the
basis of technical appraisals performed by independent
professionals at the date of acquisition.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in US
dollars ($) and all monetary amounts are rounded to the
nearest thousand ($000), except when otherwise indicated.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires that management of COPEINCA and
its subsidiaries make certain critical accounting estimates
and assumptions. It also requires management to exercise
its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The main area involving a higher
degree of judgment or complexity, or where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements
is related to the estimates with respect to the recovery
(impairment) of the investments made in fishing licenses,
which are disclosed in Notes 4 and 7. COPEINCA bases its
estimates on Management’s historical experience and on
other various assumptions such as the market prices of fish
meal and fish oil, current Peruvian regulation related to the
accounting treatment of fishing licenses, which are granted
in respect of each specific fishing vessel or fishing ban period,
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Accordingly, actual results may differ significantly from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
a) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in
2006 but not relevant The following standards, amendments and interpretations
are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2006 but are not relevant to the Group’s
operations:
•
•
•
•
•

IAS 19 (Amendment) Employee benefits.
IAS 21 (Amendment) Net investment in a foreign
operation.
IAS 39 (Amendment) Cash flow hedge accounting of
forecast intragroup transactions.
IAS 39 (Amendment) The fair value option.
IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment) Financial guarantee
contracts.
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•
•
•
•
•

b)

•

IFRS 6 (Amendment) Exploration for and evaluation of
mineral resources.
IFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources.
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains
a lease.
IFRIC 5 Rights to interest arising from decommissioning,
restoration and environmental rehabilitation funds.
IFRIC 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific
market - waste electrical and electronic equipment.
Standards, Standards Interpretations to existing
standards that are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and a
complementary amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of
financial Statements – Capital Disclosures (effective from
January 1, 2007). IFRS 7 introduces mew disclosures
requirements in IAS 32, Financial Instruments;
Disclosure and Presentation. The amendment to IAS
1 introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s
capital and how it manages capital.

c)

•

•

•

•

generally accompanying an interest of more than one half
of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that is currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the group controls
another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date control ceases.

Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet
effective and not relevant for the Group’s operations -

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for
the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed into a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value
of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the
difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

The following interpretations to existing standards have been
published that are mandatory for the Group’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 May 2006 or later periods
but are not relevant for the Group’s operations:

The Company will apply IFRS 7 and the amendment to
IAS 1 for annual periods beginning 1 January 2007. The
application of these standards will impact disclosures
only.
The following interpretations to existing standards have been
published that are mandatory for the Group’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 May 2006 or later periods
but that the Group has not early adopted:

1 November 2006). IFRIC 10 prohibits impairment
losses recognized in an interim period on goodwill,
investments in equity instruments and investments
in financial assets carried at cost to be reversed at a
subsequent balance sheet date. The Group will apply
IFRIC 10 from 1 January 2007, but it is not expected to
have any impact on the Group’s accounts.

IFRIC 7 Applying the restatement approach under IAS
29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
(effective from 1 March 2006). IFRIC 7 provides
guidance on how to apply the requirements of IAS
29 in a reporting period in which an entity identifies
the existence of hyperinflation in the economy of
its functional currency, when the economy was not
hyperinflationary in the prior period. As none of the
group entities have a currency of a hyperinflationary
economy as its functional currency, IFRIC 7 is not
relevant to the Group’s operations.
IFRIC 9 Reassessment of embedded derivatives
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 June 2006). IFRIC 9 requires an entity to assess
whether an embedded derivative is required to be
separated from the host contract and accounted for as
a derivative when the entity first becomes a party to
the contract. Subsequent reassessment is prohibited
unless there is a change in the terms of the contract
that significantly modifies the cash flows that otherwise
would be required under the contract, in which case
reassessment is required. As none of the group entities
have changed the terms of their contracts, IFRIC 9 is
not relevant to the Group’s operations.

IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2 (effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 May 2006). IFRIC 8 requires
consideration of transactions involving the issuance of
equity instruments where the identifiable consideration
received is less than the fair value of the equity
instruments issued to establish whether or not they fall
within the scope of IFRS 2. The Group will apply IFRIC 8
from 1 January 2007, but it is not expected to have any
impact on the Group’s accounts.

2.2 Consolidation -

IFRIC 10 Interim financial reporting and impairment
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after

Subsidiaries are all entities over which COPEINCA has
the power to govern the financial and operating policies

2.4 Foreign currency translation Functional and presentation currency:
Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s subsidiaries are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (‘the functional currency’). The functional currency
of the Group is the New Peruvian sol (S/.). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in United States dollars
(US$), which is the Group’s presentation currency.
Translation into United States dollars:
The Group accounting records are maintained in new
Peruvian soles (the functional currency). The results and
financial position of the entire Group that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:
(i)

All assets and all liabilities are translated at the closing
rate at the date of the balance sheet;
Stockholders’ equity items are translated at the rate
prevailing at the date when each transaction took
place.
Profit and loss and cash flows are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year.
The resultant exchange difference from the translation
process is shown in equity.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are considered as
an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting
polices of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

(ii)

2.3 Segment reporting -

Transactions and balances:

A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing products or services that are subject
to risks and returns that are different from those of other
business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in
providing products or services within a particular economic
environment that are subject to risks and return that
are different from those of segments operating in other
economic environments.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the income statement.

(iii)
(iv)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment Management considers that the Group only operates in
one segment, which is the production and sale of fish meal
and fish oil for foreign markets and operates in a single
geographical segment which is Peru.

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost or deemed
cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost comprises its
purchase price and any cost directly attributable to locate
and bring the asset into operating conditions for its
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intended use. The cost or deemed cost of property, plant
and equipment and vessels (hereinafter referred to as
“cost”) at 1 January 2004, the date of the Group transition
to IFRS, was mainly determined by appraisals performed by
independent professionals to determine their fair value. The
remaining assets related to vehicles, furniture and fixtures
and other equipment were recognised at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation in the IFRS opening balance.
The cost and the related accumulated depreciation of
assets sold or retired are eliminated from their respective
accounts and any profit or loss resulting from disposal affect
results of the period. Subsequent costs are included in the
asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of other assets is
calculated by using the straight-line method to assign their
cost, less residual value, over the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:
Years
Buildings and other constructions
Shipping vessels and equipment of fleet
Machinery and equipment
Vehicles
Furniture and fixtures
Other equipment

33
10-36
4-26
5
10
4-10

Residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The
carrying amount of an asset is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the carrying amount exceeds
the estimated recoverable amount. The difference between
in the depreciation rates for “vessels and equipment of
fleet”, “Machinery and equipment” and “Other equipment”
is caused by the current conditions of the related asset.
The remaining useful life used is in accordance with the
appraiser’s estimates there on.

2.6 Intangible assets Goodwill:
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable
assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in
intangible assets.

economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are
recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include the
software development employee costs and an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads.
2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets -

The cost of licenses for fishing anchovies (hereinafter
referred to as “cost”) at 1 January 2004, the date of the
Group’s transition to IFRS, was mainly determined by using
the appraisers’ estimate of fair value. The licenses are not
time-limited consequently no amortisation is carried out
on these assets. The values of the licenses are assessed at
each period-end. If fair value is deemed to be lower than
the related carrying amount, the licenses are written down
to fair value.

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject
to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the greater of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and its value in use. Fair value is based on
an estimate of the amount that the Group may obtain in
a sale transaction on an arm´s length basis. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discounted rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset
that does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, for the purposes of assessing
impairment, they are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cashgenerating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at each reporting date. An impairment
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation,
if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Software:

2.8 Financial assets -

Purchased computer software licenses are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring into use
the specific software. These costs are amortised over their
estimated useful lives (5 - 6 years).

The Group classifies its financial assets as Loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every
reporting date.

Separately recognized goodwill is tested annually for
impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose.
Licenses:

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer
software programmes are recognised as an expense
as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the
production of identifiable and unique software products
controlled by the Group, and that will probably generate

Loans and receivables:
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets

with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. They are included in current assets, except
for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance
sheet date. These are classified as non-current assets. Loans
and receivables are classified as “trade accounts receivable”
and “other accounts receivable” in the balance sheet.
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired.
2.9 Inventories Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined by using the weighted-average
cost method. The cost of finished products comprises raw
materials, direct labour, other direct costs, and a systematic
allocation of fixed and variable production overheads and
excludes financing expenses. The net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less the estimated cost to bring assets to selling condition
and direct selling expenses.
The provision for obsolete materials and spare parts in
warehouse is determined on the basis of slow movements
of items exceeding one year. In-transit inventories are
recorded at cost under the specific identification method.
2.10 Trade accounts receivable Trade accounts receivable are recorded at fair value, net
of its provision for impairment. A provision for impairment
of trade receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability
that the debtor will go bankrupt or undergo financial
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired.
The amount of the provision is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate.
The amount of the provision is recognised in the income
statement in Other income and other expenses.
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2.11 Cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, on-demand
deposits in banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less.

of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage
of time is recognised as interest expense.
2.14 Borrowings and borrowing costs -

2.12 Share capital Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.
If any Group company purchases COPEINCA’s equity share
capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income
taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to COPEINCA’s
equity holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or
disposed of.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value when
the resources are received, net of transaction costs. In
subsequent periods, loans are stated at amortized cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in results over the
period of the loan using the effective interest rate method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet
date.
Borrowings costs are expensed as incurred.

2.16 Employee benefits Employees’ severance indemnities:
The provision for employees’ severance indemnities is made
for the whole of the indemnity rights in accordance with the
current legislation and is shown net of deposits made on
a monthly basis. The Group has no pension or retirement
benefit schemes.
Workers’ profit sharing:
As established by law, companies in Peru have to share a
certain percentage of the yearly profit with its employees.
The percentage varies depending on which industry or
business type the company operates in. This percentage is
currently 10% for the Group. The employee profit sharing is
treated as a tax, it is deductible for tax purposes and affected
by the same temporary differences as the income tax (Note
2.15).

2.15 Deferred income tax Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any
consideration received, net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs and the related income tax
effects, is included in equity attributable to COPEINCA’s
equity holders.
2.13 Provisions Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

2.17 Revenue recognition Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither the accounting nor the taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
and workers’ profit sharing rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of
VAT (IGV Spanish acronim) rebates and discounts and after
eliminating sales among the companies of the Group.
Revenue is recognised as follows:
Sales of fish meal and fish oil - wholesale:
Sales of fish products are recognised when an entity of the
group has delivered products to the customer; the customer
has accepted the products and collections of the related
receivables is reasonably assured.

flow discounted at original effective interest rate of the
instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as
interest income.
2.18 Leases Operating leases:
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged
to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.
Finance leases:
The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment.
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group
has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised
at the lease inception at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the present value of the minimum
lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between
the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant
rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included
in other long-term payables. The interest element of the
finance cost is charged to the income statement over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under
finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful
life of the asset or the lease term.
2.19 Financial instruments -

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in a settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

For each export of fish meal and fish oil COPEINCA subscribes
contracts to sell at a fixed forward market prices. Delivery
terms are determined on a case by case basis.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Interest income:
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method. When a receivable
is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to
its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash

Financial instruments are defined as any contract that gives
rise simultaneously to a financial asset in an enterprise and a
financial liability or equity instrument in another enterprise.
In case of the Group financial instruments only include
primary instruments such as accounts receivable and
accounts payable of the Group.
The substance of a financial instrument, rather than its
legal form, governs its classification on the Group balance
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sheet. Interest, profit and loss from a financial instrument
classified as a liability are recorded as expenses or income in
the income statement. Payments to financial instruments
holders classified as equity are recorded directly in equity.
Offsetting of a financial asset and a financial liability is required
when there is a legal right to off-set and the Managements
of the Group and those of individual Subsidiaries have the
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including exchange rate risk, fair value interest
rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk) credit risk and
liquidity risk. The overall risk management program of the
Group is focused on the unpredictability of the financial
markets and seeks to minimise the potential adverse effects
on the financial performance of the Group. The following
are the major financial risks which the Group is exposed to:
a)

Market risk

i)

Exchange rate risk -

2.20 Contingencies Contingent liabilities are disclosed in notes to the financial
information unless their occurrence is remote. Contingent
assets are not recognised in the financial information, but
they are disclosed in notes if they are deemed probable.

3 FINANCIAL RISK
MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors -

As of 31 December 2006, assets and liabilities consolidated
in foreign currency have been stated substantially at the
exchange rates of S/.3.197 per US$1 (S/.3.431 per US$1 in
2005).
As of 31 December 2006 COPEINCA and its Subsidiaries
recorded exchange gains, net of US$4,803 thousand,
(US$3,267 thousand exchange losses, net as of 31 December
2005) which are shown in the income statement.
ii)

The Group’s activities and its borrowing in foreign
currency expose it to the risk of fluctuations in U.S. dollar
exchange rates. Management minimizes this risk partially
by maintaining debit balances in foreign currency. Also,
Management considers that the volumes of exports and
their profitability enable it to minimize the risk of adverse
effects of exchange rates.
The balances in foreign currency as of 31 December are as
follows:

COPEINCA is exposed to the risk of fluctuations in the prices
of the products traded.
iii)

Assets Trade accounts receivable
Other accounts receivable
Cash and cash equivalents
Liabilities Borrowings long-term debt
Bank overdrafts and loans
Trade accounts payable
Other accounts payable
Net liabilities

(
(
(
(
(
(

2005
US$000

15,781)
2,173)
200)
18,154)

12,815)
3,696)
54)
16,565)

75,055)
20,247)
6,926)
1,764)
103,992)
85,838)

(
(
(
(
(
(

58,008)
17,490)
8,000)
1,269)
84,767)
68,202)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk -

COPEINCA is exposed to interest rate risk for the loans
agreed at fixed rates. The loans from financial institutions are
agreed at fixed and floating interest rates. In 2005, COPEINCA
refinanced part of its current and long-term debt to obtain
long-term financing at preferential interest rates.
b)

2006
US$000

Price risk -

Credit risk -

COPEINCA does not have significant credit concentration
risks. COPEINCA has established policies for selling its
products to clients with an adequate credit history. The
counterparties in cash transactions are limited to financial
institutions with a first class credit rating. COPEINCA has
policies in place to limit the amount of the credit exposure
to any financial institution.
c)

Liquidity risk -

The prudent administration of liquidity risk implies
maintaining sufficient cash and negotiable instruments,
the availability of finance through an adequate number of
sources of committed credit and the ability to close positions
in the market. Due to the dynamic nature of its business,
COPEINCA seeks to maintain flexibility in its financing by
means of the availability of committed credit lines.
3.2 Fair value estimation The carrying value less impairment provision of trade

receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their
fair values due to the short-term nature of trade receivables.
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows
at the current market interest rate that is available to the
Group for similar financial instruments.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are deemed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, rarely equal the related actual results. The most
common estimates and assumptions are listed below. None
of these are considered to have a significant risk of causing
material effect on the financial accounts due to deviations
in the initial estimates and assumptions.
The main estimates in the financial statements are the
provision for doubtful accounts (Note 2.10), provision for
obsolescence of inventories (Note 2.9), depreciation and
impairment of fixed assets and fishing licenses (Notes 2.6
and 2.7), amortization of other assets (Note 2.6), and the
determination of income tax and workers’ profit sharing
(current and deferred) (Notes 2.15 and 2.16).

5 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
a)

Acquisitions of Del Mar S.A. and Pesca Perú Huarmey
S.A.-

On 31 August 2005 COPEINCA acquired 100% of the common
shares of Del Mar S.A. for US$7,750 thousand in a transaction
on the Lima Stock Exchange, which also granted COPEINCA
control over the net equity of Pesca Perú Huarmey S.A., a
company in which Del Mar S.A. has a 100% interest.
Del Mar S.A. and Pesca Perú Huarmey S.A. are mainly engaged
in the extraction of several hydro-biological species and
their subsequent transformation into fish meal and fish oil,
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for direct or indirect human consumption. Their products
are mainly sold in foreign markets. Del Mar S.A. has 13
fishing vessels mainly engaged in catching anchovies, hake
and other species. As from 1 October, 2005 COPEINCA has
signed with its Subsidiaries a lease contract of purse seiner
vessels and fishing plants for its direct administration, which
has become their major activity from that date. Plants are
located in the city of Paita (Piura) and Huarmey (Ancash).

company) was made effective on 30 December, 2006.

The merger between COPEINCA (the absorbing company)
and its related company Del Mar S.A. (the absorbed

Net assets of Del Mar S.A. and Pesca Perú Huarmey S.A. at
the date of acquisition were as follows:

Book
value
US$000

Properties, plant and equipment
Licenses
Intangible assets
Other non-current assets
Current assets
Borrowings long-term
Other non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total net assets acquired (*)
Payment for the investment
Negative goodwill (**)
(*)

(
(
(

15,865)
5,579)
206)
217)
2,913)
9,144)
2,766)
6,240)
6,630)

At the date of acquisition, COPEINCA has determined
US$3,143 thousand of negative goodwill arising from
the difference between the higher value resulting from
comparing the fair value of COPEINCA’s interest in the net
assets of the acquired subsidiaries with the acquisition cost
of the shares.

Adjustments
to fair value
US$000

(

6,767
2,504)
4,263)

Fair
value
US$000

(
(
(
(

22,632
5,579
206
217
2,913
9,144)
5,270)
6,240)
10,893
7,750)
3,143

The fair value of the fixed assets approximates the market value and has been determined on the basis of technical appraisals performed by
independent professionals at the date of acquisition.

(**) It is related to the excess of COPEINCA’S interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Del Mar S.A. over the acquisition
cost. This gain was determined under IFRS 3 and is included in the statement of income.

The loss on Del Mar S.A. and its subsidiary for the period
between 31 August, 2005 (acquisition date) and 31
December, 2005 was as follows:
US$000
Sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

(

1,785
604)
1,181)

Other income and other expenses
Selling expenses
Administrative expenses
Operating profit

(
(

863
11)
432)
1,601

Finance costs, net
Exchange difference, net
Loss before income tax
Workers’ profit sharing
Income tax expenses
Loss for the period

(
(
(
(
(
(

947)
702)
48)
415)
1,121)
1,584)

The consolidated entity’s pro-forma income statement for
2005 has been prepared as if the acquisition date had been
1 January, 2005 is as follows:
For the year ended
31 December 2000
US$000
Sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Negative goodwill
Other gains, net
Selling expenses
Administrative expenses
Operating (loss) profit
Finance costs, net
Exchange difference, net
Profit before income tax
Workers’ profit sharing
Income tax expenses
Loss for the year

(

(
(
(
(
(
(
(

94,406
68,423)
25,983
3,143
332
8,770)
10,695)
9,993
5,905)
3,266)
822
757)
2,102
2,037)
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b)

Consolidation of Jadran S.A (previously Pesquera
Nardai S.A.) -

At the General Shareholders’ Meeting held on 26 September,
2006, the merger was agreed with Pesquera Nardai S.A. (the
absorbing entity) with Jadran S.A. (the absorbed company),
which was liquidated without dissolution. The merger
agreed was made effective on 30 September, 2006 and, as a
part of this process, Pesquera Nardai S.A. assumed each and
all the assets and liabilities of the absorbed entity, as per its
balance sheet as of 30 September, 2006.

financial information. The substance of the relationship
between COPEINCA and this entity indicates that Jadran
S.A. is controlled by COPEINCA, which has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies, since they have
some common board members and also a member of the
board and the financial manager of COPEINCA are the legal
representative and manager of Jadran S.A., respectively.
Likewise, all the contracts or agreements of Jadran S.A. are
signed only by the director and the financial manager of
COPEINCA.
Net assets of Jadran S.A. as of 21 September 2006 (acquisition
date) were as follows:

Jadran S.A. is consolidated in COPEINCA´s and in the Group’s

Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Licenses
Other assets
Payables
Deferred income tax
Total net assets acquired (*)
Payment for the investment
Goodwill (**)
(*)

(

The profit on Jadran S.A. and its subsidiary for the period
between 1 October, 2006 (acquisition date) and 31
December, 2006 was as follows:
US$000
Sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Other gains, net
Operating profit
Finance costs, net
Exchange difference, net

(
(

(
(

Book
value
US$000

Adjustments
to fair value
US$000

Fair
value
US$000

153
4,838
459
653)
4,797)

15,402
13,129
10,557)
17,974

153
20,240
13,129
459
653)
10,557)
22,771
29,996)
7,225)

)

)(

(
(
(
(

The fair value of the fixed assets approximates the market value and has been determined on the basis of technical appraisals performed by
independent professional at the date of acquisition.
(**) In September 2006 Pesquera Nardai S.A. acquired 100% of the common shares of Jadran S.A., an entity engaged in the extraction of several
hydro-biological species, for US$29,996,000 pursuant to a shares’ purchase agreement. In this regard, Pesquera Nardai S.A. (currently Jadran
S.A) has determined US$7,225,000 of goodwill measured as the residual cost of the business combination after recognizing the fair value of
the acquired company’s identifiable net assets. IFRS 3 allows no adjustments to those provisional values as a result of completing the initial
accounting to be recognized from the acquisition date and within twelve months as from the acquisition date.

Profit before workers’ profit sharing and income
Workers’ profit sharing
Income tax expenses
Profit for the period

(
(

5,473
1,708)
3,765
776)
16
3,005
1,161)
323
838)
2,167
216)
583)
1,368

The consolidated entity’s pro-forma income statement for
2006 has been prepared as if the acquisition date had been
1 January, 2006 is as follows:
For the year ended
December 31, 2006
US$000
Sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Other gains, net
Operating profit
Finance costs, net
Exchange difference, net

(
(

(
(

Profit before workers’ profit sharing and income
Workers’ profit sharing
Income tax expenses
Profit for the year

(
(

10,601
5,366)
5,235)
1,916)
261
3,580
1,113)
165
948)
2,632
341)
957)
1,334
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Plant, equipment and vessels include the following amounts
of finance leases under which the Group is a lessee:
Vessels and
equipment
of fleet
US$000
At 1 January 2005
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net balances
Year ended 31 December 2005
Opening balances
Exchange difference
Reclassification
Additions
Acquisition of assets through
business combination
Disposals, net
Depreciation charge
Closing balances
At 31 December 2005
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net balances

30,109
6,456)
23,653)

(

23,653)
1,682)
662)
6,401)

(

Machinery and
equipment
US$000

(

22,941
1,809)
21,132)

21,132)
1,561)
650)
6,292)

(

9,391
( 1,002)
( 3,002)
34,421)

(
(

9,175)
179)
2,482)
33,027)

43,372
8,951)
34,421)

(

37,248
4,221)
33,027)

(

Year ended 31 December 2006
Opening balances
Exchange difference
Reclassification
Additions
business combination
Disposals, net
Depreciation charge
Closing balances

34,421
2,523
169
2,311)
17,601
(
917)
(
4,658)
51,450)

At 31 December 2006
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net balances

65,961
( 14,511)
51,450)

(

(
(

(

33,027
2,419
1,226)
2,316
1,692)
3,213)
31,631)

39,365
7,734)
31,631)

Buildings
and land
US$000

5,536)
210)
5,326

(

5,326
351)
121
1,170)

(

Other fixed
assets
US$000

(

7,034)
2,008)
5,026

(
(

5,026
217)
1,433)
317)

4,625
148)
10,743)

(

1,311)
568)
0,743)

(

0,743
788
1,540
673
1,274
2,048)
317)
2,653)

(
(

(

113,344
691)
12,653

(
(

(

(
(

(

(

(

55,137
3,811)
14,180

(
(

23,286
1,391)
6,156)
81,245

8,212)
5,158)
3,054

(

100,143
18,898)
81,245

7,183)
2,795)
4,388

(
(

(

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

Vessels and equipment of fleet
Machinery and equipment

22,182
4,846
27,028

18,000
3,932
21,932

65,620)
10,483)
55,137

95)
210)
524)
3,054)

3,054
224
483)
804
1,458
43)
626)
4,388

(

Total
US$000

Net capitalised finance leases

81,245
5,954
6,104
20,333
43)
8,814)
100,122

125,853
25,731)
100,122

The carrying amount of plant, equipment and vessels
pledged as security for borrowings from financial institutions
is US$38,395 thousand at 31 December 2006 (US$35,341
thousand at 31 December 2005).
COPEINCA has, in connection with the Credit Suisse and IIG
Capital L.L.C. loan (Notes 15 and 30), restricted their

title to certain assets in favour of La Fiduciaria S.A. which
has pledged security for the loan. Total carrying amount
of the assets with restricted title is US$70,623 thousand at
31 December 2006 (US$53,345 thousand at 31 December
2005), and comprise 19 vessels and 5 plants.
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7

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 1 January 2005
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net balances
Year ended 31 December 2005
Opening balances
Exchange difference
Additions
Acquisition of assets through business
combination
Amortisation charge
Closing balances
At 31 December 2005
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net balances
Year ended 31 December 2006
Opening balances
Exchange difference
Additions
Acquisition of assets through business
combination
Amortisation charge
Closing balances
At 31 December 2006
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net balances

(

Fishing
licenses
US$000

Software
licenses
US$000

7,312)
-)
7,312)

-

(

7,312
1,081)
8,442

1,354

5,907)
)
20,580

20,580
20,580

)

Others
US$000

Total
US$000

491)
174)
317)

(

7,803
174)
7,629

(

317)
46)
350)

(

7,629
1,127)
10,146

1,354

(

74)
547

(

5,907
74)
22,481

1,354
1,354

(

788)
241)
547)

(

22,722
241)
22,481

20,580
1,375
-

1,354
177
1,059

547
128
-

22,481
1,680
1,059

13,042
34,997

362)
2,228

175)
500

13,042
537)
37,725

)(

(

(

Under the current regulations, fishing licenses are granted
(by the Ministry of Production) in respect of a specific
fishing vessel and for a defined period of time. This period
starts when the Ministry of Production issues the resolution
underlying the fishing license and lapses (other than when
the vessel is retired or scrapped) if the holder of the said
fishing license does not comply with filing certain required
documentation at the beginning of each calendar year.
In event a vessel sunk or it is retired, its related license
lapses. The holder of the former license may apply to the
authorities for a new license for a replacement vessel with
identical storage capacity. A regulatory minimum fee is also
paid for this purpose. No such application has been refused
to date.
Provided that COPEINCA complies with the documentation
filing requirement the related fishing licenses will continue
to be effective. In addition, fishing licenses are not sold
separately from the related vessels to which they are
attached.
The fishing licenses are all attached to each vessel which
is regarded as a separate cash generating unit. Individually
none of these licenses are deemed to be a significant asset
to the Group, even if they add up to a material amount.
The recoverable amounts for the cash generating units
are dependent on the amount of anchovies beyond the
Peruvian cost. Currently such licenses are valued by third
party appraisers at values exceeding the carrying amounts
of the Group’s licenses.
Pursuant to the application of IAS 38 “Intangible assets”,
COPEINCA’s Management uses the value in use as a

34,997
)
34,997

(

2,590
362)
2,228

(

675
175)
500

(

38,262
537)
37,725

parameter of the recoverable amount, which represents the
present value of the estimated future cash flows from the
use of an asset and its disposal at the end of its useful life, by
using a discount rate of 9 and 10 per cent as of December
31, 2006, which, Management considers, reflects the
profitability expected from assets. As of December 31, 2006,
the estimates include the analysis of the effects of weather
conditions which may affect COPEINCA’s operations. The
recoverable amounts are estimated for all COPEINCA’s assets
used in the production of fish-meal and fish oil, which is
considered as one single cash-generating unit. As a result of
the estimate of the recoverable value of the fixed assets as
of 31 December, 2006, COPEINCA’s management considers
that current conditions do not justify an impairment
provision for its intangible assets and for the other assets of
its only cash generating unit.
On August 2005 COPEINCA started a computer systems
migration with the implementation of the SAP system. SAP
implementation was performed following the Ascendant
SAP, a methodology provided by IBM del Perú comprising
5 stages: 1.preparation, 2. design, 3. realization, 4. final
preparation and 5 operations and support start-up. During
the course of 2005 stages 1 and 2 were fully completed
and stage 3 partially completed. Full implementation was
achieved in 2006 and is currently operating.

8

GOODWILL

The goodwill amounting to US$7,225 thousand, arising as a
result of the acquisition of Del Mar S.A. was recognized by
COPEINCA for the excess paid for the cost of the shares at
the acquisition date over the fair value of the COPEINCA´s
share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary
(Note 5 -b).
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9

TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

10 OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
2006
US$000
13,652)
568)
15)
455)
14,690)

Trade accounts receivable from abroad
Trade accounts receivable in Peru
Notes receivable
Doubtful accounts
Less:
Provision for doubtful accounts

Trade accounts receivable are substantially denominated
in U.S. dollars, are of current maturity and are not interestbearing.
As of 31 December 2006, approximately 36.61% of the
accounts receivable from abroad are secured with export
documentary credits and the remaining 63.39% are subject
to bank collections (As of 31 December 2005, approximately
75.61% and 24.39%, respectively).

(

2005
US$000
12,191)
1,608)
16)
374)
14,189)

455)
14,235

(

374)
13,815

According to the loan agreement with Credit Suisse,
COPEINCA opened a bank account (the“Collection Account”)
in the Sun Trust Bank where all its receivables from exports
are to be credited. Sun Trust Bank is responsible for applying
the amounts deposited in the “Collection Account” to pay
the interest and the capital of the debt. The balance after
allocations is of free disposition of COPEINCA (see Note 15).
The aging of accounts receivable are as follows:

Current
Past due for up to 60 days
Past due from 61 to180 days
Past due from 181 to 360 days
Over 361 days

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

14,063
66
88
30
443
14,690

5,874
6,811
184
191
1,129
14,189

The fair values of trade accounts receivable are as follows:

Less: Provision for doubtful accounts

(

Non-current portion
Current portion

(

(

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

374)
85)
12)
8(
455)

475
38
117)
22)
374

14,235)

(
(

13,815

2005
US$000

1,640
3,572
50
164
1,297
69
91
25
1,563
1,086
2,223
11,780

2,257
1,834
2,459
284
1,045
1,030
51
73
57
1,532
69
739
11,430)

2,223)
9,557
1,187)
8,370

)

(
(

739)
10,69
150)
10,541

The fair values of trade and other accounts receivable are as follows:

Other accounts receivable

The Group has no other accounts receivable due for more
than one year after the balance sheet date.

The annual movement of the provision for accounts of doubtful collection was as follows:

Opening balances
Additions
Recoveries
Exchange difference
Closing balances

Accounts receivable from vessels’ owners
Requests for refund of VAT
Credit for VAT
Additional prepaid income tax
Income tax payments
Loans to third parties
Accounts receivable from personnel
Claims against third parties
Advances to suppliers
Prepaid expenses
Others
Doubtful accounts

2006
US$000

Accounts receivable from vessels’ owners are principally
funds provided to fishing vessels’owners for the maintenance
and repair of their vessels and loans for working capital.
Such funds are secured with mortgages or pledges in favour
of COPEINCA, covering, on average, 150% of the amount
provided on the basis of the contracts for the management
of vessels signed between COPEINCA and the related vessel
owners. These accounts receivable bear interest at monthly

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

8,370

10,541

interest rates ranging from 0.8% to 1.17% (0.8% to 1.17% in
2005) and are offset by the liabilities arising from the delivery
of raw materials to the COPEINCA’s plants during the fishing
periods.
Under legislation currently in force, VAT stated under other
accounts receivable relates to the purchases of goods,
services, construction contracts and import statements, to
the extent that it is not applied to the VAT generated on local
sales and gives rise to a fiscal credit in favour of COPEINCA,
the exporter. Based on this, COPEINCA has requested the VAT
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refund on the basis of the sales made to foreign markets.
As of 31 December 2006, applications for VAT refunds relate
to those filed in December 2006. During 2006, COPEINCA
has received tax refunds of US$6,829 thousand US$7,037
thousand in 2005).

Opening balances
Additions
Write-offs and recoveries
Adjustments
Closing balances

11

The loan to Fish Investment S.A.C. matures in September
2007 and is shown in the non-current portion of the balance
sheet.

12 SHARE CAPITAL AND
INVESTMENT SHARES

The annual movement of the provision for doubtful
accounts is as follows:

a)

(

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

739)
1,524)
40)
2,223)

809)
-)
68)
2)
739)

(
(

Share capital:

The authorized, signed, and paid-in capital under COPEINCA’s
by-laws as of 31 December 2006 and 2005 comprises
100,400,000 common shares of S/.1 nominal value each,
equivalent to approximately 0.3 US$ as of 31 December
2006 and 2005.
Number
of shares
(in thousand)

Share
capital
S/.000

US$000

At 1 January 2005

100,400

100,400

28,006

Balance at 31 December 2005

100,400

100,400

28,006

At 1 January 2006
Balance at 31 December 2006

100,400
100,400

100,400
100,400

28,006
28,006

INVENTORIES
2006
US$000

Finished goods;
•
Fish meal
•
Fish oil
Spare parts, supplies and packaging
In-transit inventories
Provision for obsolete spare parts and supplies
Carrying amount

(

2005
US$000

15,208)
24)
2,551)
-

)

7,912
665
2,337
-)

517)
17,266

(

553)
10,361

The share capital is translated at historical rates.
The Board of Directors have no proxies to issue additional
shares.

As of 31 December 2006, the stock of fish meal was 22,239
MT (20,245 MT as of 31 December 2005).

to approximately US$20,164 thousand and US$17,482
thousand, respectively.

As of 31 December 2006 and 2005 the fair value of fish meal
and fish oil pledged as security for bank loans amounted

All inventories are carried at cost less the provision for
obsolescence.

COPEINCA has only one class of common shares and each
share gives the right to one vote at the annual general
stockholders meeting. No dividend distribution has been
proposed for 2006 and 2005.
Dividends distributed to stockholders, other than legal
domiciled persons, are subject to 4.1% income tax. Such
income tax will be withheld and paid by COPEINCA.
Restrictions on dividend payments are mentioned in article
6 (negative covenants) section 6.01 of the loan agreement

signed between Credit Suisse - COPEINCA by which it can
not declare or pay any dividends, or make any payments
on account of, or set apart assets for a sinking or other analogous fund for, the purchase, redemption, defeasance,
retirement or other acquisition of any shares of any class of
capital stock of the borrowers or any warrants or options to
purchase any such stock.
b)

Investment shares -

At 31 December, 2006 and 2005 the investment shares
account comprises by 21,939 and 23,767 respectively,
investment shares of S/.1 nominal value each. According
to law, investment shares confer to their holders the
right to participate in the distribution of dividends, make
contributions in order to maintain their existing proportion
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Legal reserve -

in the shareholders’ equity in case of capital increases by
means of new contributions, redeem their shares in any
of the situations provided for by law and participate in
the distribution of the balance of net equity in the event
of liquidation of company. Investment shares do not
confer access to the Board of Directors or to the General
Stakeholders’ Meeting.

In accordance with the Peruvian General Companies’ Law, a
legal reserve is required through the transfer of not less than
10% of the annual net profit until it reaches 20% of the paidin capital. In the event there are no available undistributed
profits or reserves of free disposition, the legal reserve may
be used to offset losses.

The movement in the number of outstanding investment
shares was as follows:

14

Outstanding at beginning of year
Reduction in investment shares account
Outstanding at end of year

(

2006
23,767
1,828)
21,939

2005
23,767
23,767

13 OTHER RESERVES, CUMULATIVE
TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT AND RETAINED
EARNINGS
Other
reserves (*)
US$000

Cumulative
translation
adjustment
US$000

Retained
earnings
US$000

Opening balance at 1 January 2005
Incorporation of investment shares
Exchange difference
Profit for the year
Closing balance at 31 December 2005

1,844
1,844

827)
44)
1,421)
638)

2,474
1,001
3,475

Opening balance at 1 January 2006
Exchange difference
Profit for the year
Closing balance at 31 December 2006

1,844
1,844

(*) Corresponds to the legal reserve that is calculated based
on financial statements prepared under Peruvian GAAP.

(
(
(
(

638)
4,332
3,694

)

TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
2006
US$000

2005
US$000

Trade accounts payable:
Invoices payables
Less: Non-current portion
Trade payables, net

7,512
7,512

Other accounts payable:
Provision for other liabilities
Social security and other taxes
Advances received from customers
Loan from third parties
Other payables

1,176
3,756
920
5,852

1,648
682
898
593
3,821

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

7,512
5,852
13,364

8,648
3,821
12,469

)
(

10,835
2,187)
8,648

The fair values of trade and other accounts payable
are as follows:

Trade accounts payable
Other accounts payable

3,475
10,014
13,489
As of 31 December 2006 the Group has made a provision
of US$1,176 thousand (US$1,648 thousand in 2005). The
provision represents the cost of services and others items
purchased during the year.
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15 BORROWINGS

Non-current
2006
US$000

2005
US$000

Long - term borrowings:
Non - current
Bank borrowings
Finance lease liabilities

40,457
12,177
52,634

36,186
11,771
47,957

Total long-term borrowings
Bank overdrafts and loans
Total debt

18,128
4,292
22,420
75,054
20,539
95,593

6,283
3,771
10,054
58,011
17,490
75,501

Fair value of long-term borrowing

72,178

56,981

Current
Bank borrowings
Finance lease liabilities

Name of creditor
COPEINCA S.A.
Banco Nuevo Mundo
en Liquidación
- Financial lease contracts
Banco de Credito del Peru
- Financial lease contracts
BBVA Banco Continental
- Financial lease contracts
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
- Loan
- Financial lease contracts
Gestiones y recuperaciones
de activos S.A. (previously
Wiese Sudameris Leasing)
- Financial lease contracts
America Leasing S.A.
- Financial lease contracts
Eksportfinance ASA Oslo
- Loan
Hencorp
- Loan
Johnston
- Loan
Man B & W Diesel A/S
- Loan
Ymec
- Loan
Credit Suisse
- Loan
Binghampton
- Notes
CIDEF Argentina
- Loan
COFIDE
- Financial lease contracts
Del Mar S.A.:
COFIDE
- Financial lease contracts

Carrying amount
Guarantees
given

Annual interest
rate (nominal)

Maturity

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

Assets pledged

10.00%

February 2009

319

576

Assets pledged

10.00%

September 2007

-

326

Assets pledged

10.00%

October 2006

1,335

1,979

Mortgages
Assets pledged

10.20%
9.40%

April 2008
May 2010

2,043

105
2,512

Assets pledged

10.00%

May 2010

1,550

2,201

Assets pledged

10.00%

January 2008

1

21

Marine mortgage

2.98%

November 2008

167

335

Guarantee from
Eximbank

Libor + 0,75%

December 2009

404

606

Guarantee from
Eximbank

Libor + 0,75%

December 2009

71

106

Notes

3.62%

June 2010

298

417

Notes

9.00%

November 2016

475

482

Guarantee trust

Libor + 5,15%

August 2010

23,315

28,737

Assets pledged

7.00%

July 2007

-

570

Assets pledged

7.00%

February 2010

2,052

2,776

Assets pledged

Libor + 4,5%

December 2013

3,295

3,695

Assets pledged

9.00%

Monthly until to 2007

-

462
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Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
- Loan
Banco Continental
-Loan
Jadran S.A.
IIG Capital L.L.C.
-Loan
Banco Interbank
-Financial lease contracts
Non-current total

Guarantee trust

9.00%

1,572

2,051

402

-

Trust

Libor + 8.25%

March 2008

11,700

-

Assets pledged

10.40%

August 2011

3,635
52,634

47,957

Current
Name of creditor

until to 2012

Carrying amount
Guarantees
given

Annual interest
rate (nominal)

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

52,634

47,957

Non current total
Banco Nuevo Mundo
en Liquidación
- Financial lease contracts
Banco de Credito del Peru
- Financial lease contracts
BBVA Banco Continental
- Financial lease contracts
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
- Loan
- Financial lease contracts
Gestiones y recuperaciones
de activos S.A. (previously
Wiese Sudameris Leasing)
- Financial lease contracts
America Leasing S.A.
- Financial lease contracts
Bank Boston N.A. Sucursal
del Peru
Eksportfinance ASA Oslo
- Loan
Hencorp
- Loan
Johnston
- Loan
Man B & W Diesel A/S
- Loan

Assets pledged

10.0 %

258

339

Assets pledged

10.0 %

281

736

Assets pledged

10.0 %

922

668

Mortgage
Assets pledged

10.20%
9.40%

473

835
588

Assets pledged

10.00%

657

702

Assets pledged

10.00%

20

31

Marine mortgage

2.98%

168

261

Guarantee from
Eximbank

Libor + 0,75%

203

202

Guarantee from
Eximbank

Libor + 0,75%

36

35

Notes

3.62%

120

185

Ymec
- Loan
Credit Suisse
- Loan
Binghampton
- Notes
COFIDE
- Financial lease contracts
Del Mar S.A.:
Banco Continental
- Loan
COFIDE
- Financial lease contracts
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
- Loan
Jadran S.A.
IIG Capital L.L.C
-Loan
Banco Interbank
-Financial lease contracts
Current total
Total borrowings

Notes

9.00%

52

46

Guarantee trust

Libor + 5,15%

7,620

2,261

Assets pledged

7.00%

1,062

930

Assets pledged

Libor + 4,5%

412

456

Industrial pledge

Libor + 3,5%

373

1,120

Assets pledged

9.00%

462

252

Guarantee trust

9.00%

318

407

Trust

Libor + 8.25%

8,176

-

Assets pledged

10.40%

807
22,420
75,054

10,054
58,011

Management also considers that the effective interest rates
are not significantly different from the nominal interest
rates. See comments on effective interest rates in general
and specifically those used for the loan from Credit Suisse
included below.

Total borrowings include secured liabilities (bank borrowings)
of US$38,395 thousand (in 2005 US$35,517 thousand). Bank
borrowings are secured with COPEINCA’s property, plant
and equipment (Note 6). All debt is in United States dollars.
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Loan from Credit Suisse

The maturity of borrowings is as follows (including leasing):

Before 1 year
Between 1 and 2 years
Between 2 and 5 years
Over 5 years

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

42,959
22,762
10,448
19,424
95,593

27,544
10,580
9,772
27,605
75,501

a)

On 30 August 2005, COPEINCA signed a loan agreement with
Credit Suisse up to the amount of US$31,000,000, intended
to prepay the short-term and medium-term financial debt
amounting to US$18,580,000 and obtain working capital of
US$4,386,000, to be used basically to pay obligations with
third parties.
Under the terms and conditions of the loan agreement,
the amortization of the loan is made in 48 equal monthly
instalments, of US$452,000 each, the first payment being
due twelve months after the agreement signing date, and
the remaining ones following an established timetable. In
August 2010, a specific instalment of US$9,300,000 will be
paid.

The maturity of borrowings is as follows (including leasing):

Before 1 year
Over 1 year

Total minimum payments under finance lease
Total interest cost when discounting
Present value of minimum payments

(

Discount rate used

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

4,292
12,177
16,469

3,771
11,771
15,542

2006
US$000

2005
US$00

16,469)
3,577)
12,892)
9.75%

(

19,075)
4,287)
14,778)
8.95%

The average effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows:
2006
Interest rate
Bank borrowings
Finance lease

9.84%
9.46%

2005
Interest rate
10.8%
9.9%

Amount and terms and conditions -

Number of
periods

6 years
-

Additionally, at the termination of the loan agreement,
COPEINCA is expected to pay a bonus if the COPEINCA’s
net worth increases as a result of the loan, which will
be based on the EBITDA established at the agreement
inception and termination, with a total maximum amount
of US$3,500,000.

transferring on a monthly basis the amount of the monthly
instalments to Credit Suisse. COPEINCA may use the balance
of this checking account at its best judgment.
b)

The agreement contains a listing of affirmative and negative
actions that are customary in this kind of transactions.
Some of these agreements establish that COPEINCA is
obliged to send the information on a monthly, quarterly and
annual basis about COPEINCA’s financial performance. This
information includes the delivery of the financial statements
as well as the determination of compliance with certain
ratios established in the agreement. Major ratios are:
-

Production: Percentage of production reached in the
last 12 months of SD fish meal should be 45% of the
combined production at the minimum (FAQ fish meal
plus SD fish meal).

-

Local sales: the percentage of local sales of the last 12
months should not be over 8% of the total exports for
the same period.

-

Interest ratio: The ratio between the consolidated
EBITDA for the period and the interest on the debt
should not be lower than 2.7 during 2005. Since
COPEINCA has plans to strengthen its positioning in
the market, this ratio will increase in 2006 but from
December 31 it will be stable at 5.00.

-

Debt-service ratio: The ratio of collections from exports
credited to the SunTrust over this loan’s debt service
(capital plus interest of the month reported) should, in
no case, be lower than 1.75.

-

Leverage: The ratio between the consolidated debt
and Consolidated EBITDA should not be higher than
4.5 for the quarter ended December 2006. This ratio
decreases as the period of the loan goes forward.

During year 2006 COPEINCA reached the EBITDA established
by Credit Suisse, therefore the amount of the bonus was
settled at US$2,500,000 and was recorded charging financial
expenses in the results of the year. COPEINCA financed the
payment of such bonus in four instalments which have a
final maturity on September 2007.
The interest rate on the loan is Libor + 5.15% over the period
of the loan. If an event inherent to the fishing industry
occurs that is beyond the control of COPEINCA and that it is
estimated would reduce the catch of anchovy within certain
territorial limits, the payment of the loan may be suspended
if requested by COPEINCA, on a one-time basis, for a period
of twelve months.
As a security for the payment of interest and capital
amortization, COPEINCA opened a bank checking account
in foreign currency in the Sun Trust Bank (New York), to
which collections of the Prime fish meal, frozen fish and
fish oil are credited. The Sun Trust Bank is responsible for

Commitments and guarantees -

As part of the contractual condition of the loan, guarantees
were given in favour of the Credit Swiss for up to US$118,655
million, which will be executed in the event of noncompliance by COPEINCA with the agreements included in

COPEINCA 06

94

the loan agreement, which is detailed as follows:
1.
2.
3.

75% of the common shares of COPEINCA
100% of the common shares of Del Mar S.A.
Guarantee trust (see d, in this Note).

c)

Extension of loan amount -

Law of the Financial System and Organic Law issued by the
Peruvian banking regulator and by the standards established
under the Peruvian Civil Code and other provisions currently
in force, as applicable.

agreement signing date. In addition, a balloon installment
of US$ 9.9 million will be paid in March 2008.

To the present date, the COPEINCA’s Management has
substantially released the major mortgages and/or industrial
liens on its assets, which have been transferred to the
guarantee trust. Certain assets, amounting to US$9,232,000,
are presently securing the first and second mortgages and/
or third-party industrial liens.

The interest rate on such loan is Libor + 8.25% over effective
period of the loan. If any event, inherent to the fishing
industry, occurs that is beyond the COPEINCA’s control
and which is estimated to reduce the amount of anchovies
caught, under certain limitations, during the effective
period of the loan, such loan amortization payment will be
suspended for a year, on a one-time basis, at the choice of
COPEINCA.

e) Effective interest rate -

b)

The financial institution will exercise this right prior notice
to COPEINCA, during the period between the third month
after the initial disbursement and twelve months before the
loan termination date.

Based on International Accounting Standard - IAS 39
Financial instruments: recognition and measurement, the
annual effective rate of this financial transaction was fixed at
10.81% as of 31 December 2006 and 2005.

The new loan will have the same conditions as the current
loan. This agreement gives rise to a put option held by the
bank. COPEINCA, based on the advice and assistance from
external experts has valued this option. The value of this
option for the year 2006 and 2005 was US$33,000. Since the
appraised value amount was not material it has not been
included in the financial statements accounts.

The interest accrued of the loan recorded at amortised costs
for the 2006 period amounts to US$3,102,392 (US$1,042,000
in year 2005) and the interest accrued under the loan
agreement amounts to US$2,798,667(US$909,000 in year
2005); the difference has been stated with a charge to
financial expenses in the statement of income.
Loan from IIG Capital L.L.C. -

The loan agreement establishes that COPEINCA is obliged
to comply with maintaining the following ratios:
•
Maintaining a value resulting from the total assets less
the bank liabilities of US$ 6 million for during 2007,
•
Maintaining, at all times, a ratio of not less than 4%
resulting from dividing the financial expenses by
COPEINCA’s sales and
•
Customers should credit to the related bank account, a
monthly minimum payment of an amount equivalent
to 150% of the next installment of the principal and/or
interest falling due and to be made by COPEINCA, as
established in the Trust Agreement signed between
COPEINCA and Jadran S.A.

a)

c)

If the COPEINCA’s credit risk decreases below 5.15%, the
financial institution has the right to make an additional loan
of US$10,000,000 at a minimum, and US$30,000,000, at a
maximum, to be disbursed at the termination date of the
original loan.

d)

Commitments and guarantees -

Guarantee trust -

On 29 August 2005 COPEINCA, Del Mar S.A. and Pesca Perú
Huarmey S.A. (the trustors) established a guarantee trust
and related addenda involving the trust funds, comprising 5
fishing plants, 12 purse seiner vessels and 7 trawling vessels
in favour of Credit Suisse (the beneficiary), authorizing the
transfer of the fiduciary power on such assets in favour of
Fiduciaria S.A., the entity acting as the trustee.
Such guarantee trust is governed by No.26702, General

Terms, conditions and amount -

On 21 September, 2006, Pesquera Nardai S.A. signed a
loan agreement with IIG Capital L.L.C. up to the amount
of US$19.8 million, to be used for the acquisition of Jadran
S.A.(Note 5).
As established in the loan agreement amortization is to be
made in the form of 11 monthly installments of US$900,000
each, the first installment falling due six months from the

Extension of the loan -

COPEINCA may request IIG Capital L.L.C. to extend the
time limit originally established for the payment of the
last installment of the loan amortization (equivalent to
50% of the total loan amount) for an additional period not
exceeding twelve months.

d)

Guarantee Trust -

On September 21, 2006 COPEINCA established a guarantee
trust to maintain the assets in trust comprising 6 purse seiner
vessels, a property located in Chimbote and the furniture
and fixtures inside such property. IIG Capital (the trustee),
authorized the transfer of the trust control over such assets
in favor of Fiduciaria S.A., the entity acting as trustee.
Such a guarantee trust is governed by law No.26702, General
Law of the Financial System and Organic Law issued by the
Peruvian banking regulator and by the standards established
under the Peruvian Civil Code and other provisions currently
in force, as applicable.
e)

Effective interest rate -

As established under IAS 39 Financial Instruments recognition and measurement, the annual interest rate
on this transaction as of December 31, 2006 is 13.57 %.
Interest accrued on the loan is recorded at the amortized
cost for the 2006 period amounting to US$ 686,864 and the
interests accrued under the loan agreement amounts to US$
687,148, the difference has been recognized with a charge
to results of the year and is shown in financial expenses in
the statement of income.

16

DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The temporary
differences are as follows:
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2006
US$000
Deferred tax assets:
- Deferred tax asset to be recovered
after more than 12 months
Deferred tax liabilities:
- Deferred tax to be recovered
after more than 12 months
Temporary differences liabilities, net

(

8,542)

2005
US$000

(

85,628)
77,086)

8,202)

49,655)
41,453)

The gross movement on the deferred income tax liabilities
account is as follows:
2006
US$000
Beginning of the year
Effect of translation
Deferred income tax on fair value of net assets
acquired through business combination
Charge to the income statement
End of the year

15,338
1,193

2005
US$000

(

10,556
1,435
28,522

The tax on the Group’s profit tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the weighted-average tax
rate applicable to profits of the companies as follows:

8,960
386)
4,747)
2,017)
15,338)

Profit before income tax
Effective tax rate
Income tax expenses and workers´ profit sharing
Negative goodwill
Other non taxable income
Deductions for effects of merger
Unused tax losses from the subsidiary Del Mar S.A.
Other non deductible expenses
Doubtful accounts
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Income tax expenses and workers’ profit sharing charge

(
(

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

18,148)
37%)

3,779)
37%)

6,715)
322)
302)
1,291)
289
245
2,196)
8,134)

(
(

1,398)
1,163)
61)
--1,298
324
982)
2,778)

17 COST OF GOODS SOLD
The cost of goods sold for the year ended 31 December comprises:

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
during the year, without taking into consideration the
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as
follows:
Deemed
cost for
fixed assets
and fishing
licenses
US$000
At 1 January 2005
Effect of translation
Fair value by business combination
Charged to the income statement
At 31 December 2005
Effect of translation
Fair value by business combination
Charged to the income statement
At 31 December 2006

(

8,481
270)
1,757)
9,968)
60
246
10,274

2006
US$000

Fair value
of assets
acquired
by business
combination
US$000

)

4,747
1,102
5,849
955
10,556
17,360

Fixed assets
in leasing
US$000

(
(
(

687)
31)
1,594)
938)
143
1,150
355

Others
US$000
(
(

208)
85)
752)
459)
35(
39(
533)

Total
US$000

(

8,960
386)
4,747
2,017
15,338
1,193
10,556
1,435
28,522

Opening balance of finished products
Raw materials and other materials used
Personnel
Depreciation
Other manufacturing expenses
Closing balance of finished products

(

8,577)
20,483)
6,295)
7,263)
18,075)
15,232)
45,461)

2005
US$000
)

(

13,961
27,973
6,585
5,700
11,031
8,577)
56,673
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18 SELLING EXPENSES

20

Selling expenses for the year ended 31 December comprise:

Other income and other expenses for the year ended 31
December comprise:

Personnel
Services rendered by third parties
Freight
Taxes
Other management charges
Depreciation
Amortisation

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

412
3,445
1,345
5
54
54
16
5,331

388
3,798
3,294
438
37
6
7,961

19 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Administrative expenses for the year ended 31
December comprise:

Personnel
Services rendered by third parties
Taxes
Other management charges
Depreciation
Amortisation
Others

Other income:
Reimbursement insurance
Sales of assets sold
Fleet rentals
Other operating income

Other expenses:
Cost of assets sold
Doubtful accounts
Other operating expenses

21
2006
US$000
4,306
4,511
1,245
529
1,547
274
357
12,769

2005
US$000
3,673
3,968
626
624
419
73
11
9,394

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER EXPENSES

(
(
(
(

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

224)
3,063)
16)
770)
4,073)

1,399)
436)
46)
813)
2,694)

4,323)
1,575)
915)
6,813)

(
(
(

1,016)
1,166)
2,182)

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses by nature for the year ended 31 December comprise:

Depreciation and amortization
Changes in inventories of finished goods
Employee benefit expenses
Services rendered by third parties
Taxes
Freight
Various charges for operations
Raw materials and consumables

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

9,154
3,650
11,013
13,137
1,210
1,346
1,961
22,090
63,561

6,295
5,383
10,646
9,929
800
4,212
1,114
35,649
74,028
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22

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

24 RECONCILIATION OF NET PROFIT WITH
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Employee benefit expenses for the year ended 31
December comprise;

Wages and salaries
Social security costs and holiday pay
Other employee costs

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

9,063
1,057
893
11,013

8,170
1,368
1,108
10,646

Number of employees (man labour years) in 2006 was
1,436 (1,025 in 2005).
Compensation paid to the Board of Directors amounted to
US$313 thousand in 2006 (US$310 thousand in 2005).

23

FINANCE EXPENSES

Financial expenses for the year ended December
31 comprise:

Bank borrowings
Other interest expense

Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Amortization
Loss (profit) on sale of property and equipment
Negative goodwill
Interest expense
Translation difference
Change in working capital:
Inventories
Trade accounts receivable
Other accounts receivable
Deferred income tax
Trade accounts payable
Other accounts payable
Cash generated from operations

(

(

2006
US$000

2005
US$000

10,014

1,001

8,627
526
1,660
10,717
1,727

6,156
74
402
3,274)
5,450)
31))

5,899)
534
2,179
5,681
3,599)
3,011
35,178

(
(

(

(
(

5,837)
9,770)
1,839)
2,375)
7,855)
216)
1,988)

Transactions not representing cash flows:
2006
US$000

2005
US$000

3,810
6,908
10,718

2,397
3,053
5,450

2006
US$000
•
•

Purchase of property, machinery and equipment offsetting
accounts receivable with accounts payable

a)

4,415

Assets and liabilities of the Subsidiary to the date of
acquisition of shares

25

-

2005
US$000

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Management of the Group considers that it has
determined the taxable income, on an individual
basis for each company, under the general regime

29,996

7,750

of the income tax law as established by regulations
currently in force in Peru, which requires adding to
and deducting from the result shown in the financial
statements, those items considered as taxable and
non-taxable, respectively under such regulations.
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The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate
applicable to profits of the consolidated companies as
follows:

Workers’ profit sharing:
2006
US$000
Current
Deferred

Corporación Pesquera Inca S.A. As of 31 December 2006 and 2005, the income tax rate
is 30%. The taxable income has been determined as
follows:
2006
US$000
Profit before tax and employees’ profit sharing

18,148)

Non - deductible expenses
Temporary differences
Non - taxable revenues
Taxable income
Workers profit sharing (10%)

(

Effect in worker’s profit sharing no deducted in 2005

(

5,724)
5,674)
11,287)
18,259)
1,826)
16,433)
190)
16,243)

(

Income tax payable (30%)

(
(

Subsidiaries -

that these subsidiaries reported tax losses in 2005.

As of 31 December 2005 the subsidiaries have
determined tax losses of US$3,509 thousand in 2005.
COPEINCA’s Management has not determined the
income tax for each Subsidiary from the date control
was assumed, relating to the period from 1 September
to 31 December, 2005, because it considers that the
effect, if arising, will not be significant bearing in mind

Taking into consideration the legislation in force as of
the legal merger process, COPEINCA (the absorbing
company) can not apply the carry-forward tax loss of
Del Mar S.A. (the absorbed company) (Note 5).
b)

2006
US$000

3,244)
4,601
2,163)
1,903
190)
1,713)
190)
1,903)
571)

The income (expense) tax and workers’ profit sharing
shown in the statement of income comprises:

(
(
(

190)
545)
735)

Income tax:

3,779)

4,873)

1,826)
388)
2,214)

Under legislation currently in force, the Group
workers’ profit sharing is 10% of the net income.
This profit sharing is a deductible expense for income
tax purposes.

2005
US$000
(

(
(
(

2005
US$000

Current
Deferred

c)

Peruvian tax authorities (SUNAT, Spanish acronym) have
the right to review and, if necessary, amend the income
tax determined by COPEINCA and its subsidiaries
in the last four years from the following year the tax
returns have been filed (years subject to examination).
Years 2002 to 2006 are subject to examination by
the tax authorities. Since discrepancies may arise
over the interpretation of the tax laws applicable to
COPEINCA and its subsidiaries by the tax authorities, it
is not possible to presently anticipate if any additional
liabilities will arise as a result of eventual examinations.
Any additional tax, penalties and interest, if arising, will
be recognised in the results of the period when such
differences are resolved. COPEINCA´s and its subsidiaries’
Management consider that no significant liabilities will
arise as a result of these tax examinations.

(
(
(

4,873)
1,047)
5,920)

2005
US$000
(
(
(

571)
1,472)
2,043)

d)

COPEINCA may obtain a refund of the VAT (IGV in Peru)
on its exports. In this sense, the tax paid may be applied
against the VAT arising from local sales or other taxes
that are considered as revenues for the Public Treasury
or otherwise apply for refund through negotiable credit
notes or checks. The amount to be recovered as of 31
December, 2006 totals approximately US$3,572,000
(approximately US$1,834,000 as of 31 December, 2005)
and is shown net in Accounts receivable in the balance
sheet (Note 10).

e)

For the 2005 economic period, COPEINCA obtained
net income which made it subject to make estimated
income payments in advance, as established under
Article 54 of the Income tax rules. As of 31 December,
2006 COPEINCA made payments amounting to
US$1,073,000 for the months from January to
November 2006, which are applied against the Income
Tax resulting as of 31 December, 2006.
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26
a)

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Management considers that these contingencies will
be resolved in favour of COPEINCA and in no case will
significantly affect its future results.

Basic -

29

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of COPEINCA by the weighted-

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions were carried out with related
parties:

average number of ordinary shares outstanding and issued
during the year, excluding common shares purchased by

Key management compensation -

the Group and held as treasury shares (Note 12).

Profit attributable to equity holders of COPEINCA (US$000)

2006

2005

10,014

1,001

100,400

100,400

0.099

0.010

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
(thousand)
Basic earnings per share (US$ per share)

Salaries
Short - term benefits
Termination benefits

30

Diluted -

COPEINCA had no outstanding equity instruments with
dilutive effect.

28

As of 31 December 2006 COPEINCA has the following
contingencies:
•

27

CONVERTIBLE LOAN

As of 31 December 2006 and 2005 the Group has no
outstanding convertible instruments which may have been
converted to shares.

CONTINGENCIES

•

•

Claims filed with Peruvian Tax Authorities currently
pending resolution, relating to tax assessments
involving US$3,998 thousand (taxes and fines
for US$2,307 thousand and US$1,691 thousand
respectively, including in each amount the interest and
extra charges calculated as of December 2006).
Court actions brought against Copeinca for an amount
of US$899 thousand, comprising civil and labourrelated actions.
Administrative proceedings filed with the Production
Ministry amounting to US$562 thousand.

2005
US$000

589
220
29
838

571
194
5
770

GUARANTEES

Creditor
b)

2006
US$000

COFIDE
COFIDE
Total COFIDE
BBVA Banco Continental
BBVA Banco Continental
BBVA Banco Continental
BBVA Banco Continental
BBVA Banco Continental
BBVA Banco Continental
BBVA Banco Continental
BBVA Banco Continental
Total BBVA Banco Continental
Banco de Credito del Peru
Banco de Credito del Peru
Total Banco de Credito del Peru
Carried forward:

Nature of
transaction

Asset
pledged

Type of
guarantee

Value of guarantee
2006
US$000

Leasing
Leasing

Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel

Leasing
Leasing

4,761
815
5,576

Leasing
Blanket guarantee
Leasing
Leasing
Blanket guarantee
Loan
Blanket guarantee
Blanket guarantee

Machinery and equipment
Fishing vessel
Machinery and equipment
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Land
Plant

Leasing
Mortgage
Leasing
Leasing
Mortgage
First mortgage
First mortgage
Blanket guarantee

608
300
166
2,000
2,400
2,000
1,432
3,329
12,235

Leasing
Leasing

Machinery and equipment
Fishing vessel

Leasing
Leasing

232
2,157
2,389
20,200
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Creditor

Nature of
transaction

Asset
pledged

Type of
guarantee

Brought forward:

Value of guarantee
2006
US$000
20,200

Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Credit Suisse
Total Credit Suisse

Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan

Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Plant
Plant
Plant
Plant
Plant
Fishing vessel

Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust

119
3,649
4,224
1,745
4,109
1,478
2,007
1,765
676
1,803
3,541
19,733
10,579
14,548
1,713
11,697
3,025
86,411

EKSPORTFINANS
Total EKSPORTFINANS

Loan

Fishing vessel

Mortgage

1,278
1,278

Leasing

Fishing vessel

Leasing

1,368
1,368

Loan
Loan

Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel

Trust
Trust

1,770
2,300
4,070

Financing

Machinery and equipment

Pledge

386
386

Loan
Loan
Loan
Leasing
Leasing
Loan
Loan

Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel

First mortgage
First mortgage
First mortgage
Leasing
Leasing
First mortgage
First mortgage

172
192
147
3,434
1,519
127
433

Nuevo Mundo en liquidación
Total Nuevo Mundo en liquidación
Grupo Errazuri
Grupo Errazuri
Total Grupo Errazuri
Pestrox
Total Petrox
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.

Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
Total Scotiabank Peru S.A.A.
IIG Capital L.L.C.
IIG Capital L.L.C.
IIG Capital L.L.C.
IIG Capital L.L.C.
IIG Capital L.L.C.
IIG Capital L.L.C.
Total IIG Capital L.L.C.
INTERBANK
Total INTERBANK
Total

Loan
Loan
Loan
Leasing
Leasing

Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel

First mortgage
Trust
Second mortgage
Leasing
Leasing

401
1,821
2,062
2,432
1,100
13,840

Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan

Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel
Fishing vessel

Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust
Trust

4,641
4,564
4,550
3,393
3,271
3,266
23,685

Leasing

Fishing vessel

Leasing

4,576
4,576
155,814
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31 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

2.3% of the total fish-processing capacity in Peru.

a)

Corporación Pesquera Ribar S.A., has 9 fishing vessels
with a total capacity of 4,246.82 m3 and fish catch
volume reaches an average 2.7% of the total anchovies
catch per year in Peru

b)

On January 29, 2007 Copeinca ASA, of which Copeinca
Peru S.A. is an indirect subsidiary (through a Spanish
Company “Copeinca Internacional S.L.”), carried out
a successful private placement of US$100 million,
subsequently listing at the Oslo Stock Exchange,
Norway, transforming from a family-owned company
into a public company with approximately 150
shareholders. Many local and international investors,
both private and institutional are among major new
shareholders. The capital raised from this public offering
will be used to acquire other companies, a process
presently in progress, which will make COPEINCA one
of the leading companies in the world’s fish meal and
fish oil industry. Copeinca ASA is the first foreign fishing
company being listed on the in Oslo Stock Exchange.
On February 22, 2007 COPEINCA signed a memorandum
of understanding to be able to merge with Corporación
Fish Protein S.A. and Corporación Pesquera Ribar S.A.,
both Peruvian Companies.
Corporación Fish Protein S.A. owns a plant with a
processing capacity of 185 MT/Hr and represents a
3.9% of the total production of fish meal in Peru with a

c)

On February 23, 2007, COPEINCA signed a memorandum
of understanding to acquire a 100% of the shares of
Pacific Fishing Business S.A.C.
Pacific Fishing Business S.A.C., has a plant in the port
of Chancay with a fish-processing capacity of 60MT/
Hr and comprises a 0.67% of the total capacity of the
industry in Peru. Additionally, it has 6 fishing vessels
with a total storage capacity of 2,311.59 M3 and catches
and average 1.11% of the total anchovies caught in
Peru per year.

d)

On March 29, 2007, COPEINCA signed a share purchase
agreement to acquire 100% of the shares of Corporación
Pesquera Newton S.A.C. Corporación Pesquera Newton
S.A.C. has a plant with fish-processing capacity of 21
MT/Hr and 35 MT FQ and SD, respectively and it has 3
fishing vessels with a total storage capacity of 972.10
M3.
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13
Br ief history of C O P EI NCA
Corporación Pesquera Inca S.A. was founded in July of 1994, by its main founding partners
Osterlin L. Dyer, Rosa A. Coriat, Edward and Samuel E. Dyer. That same year, we purchased the first
fishmeal and fish oil production factory, located in the Bay of Bayovar, Department of Piura, which had a capacity of 68 MT/h. By
the end of 1996 we were able to purchase our first three vessels, which gave us a hold capacity of 600 MT. In 1997 we made our
fits attempt to diversify with the construction of our frozen product plant in Bayovar, which started operating in December of
the same year, with a capacity of 70 MT/day of finished product. We also purchased three additional vessels, with a hold capacity
of 900 MT.

In the year 1998, the sector, together with the entire country, was harshly hit by the “El
Niño” phenomenon. We were able to come out successfully of this serious situation thanks to the preventive measures
we adopted and our low indebtedness level. 1999 was a year of recovery, during which the growth strategy was resumed. In
order to maximize the company’s efficiency, we embarked in a re-engineering process entrusted to the international consultant
Plexus, which completed its work in the first quarter of 2000, resulting in annual savings of over one million dollars. By the end
of the same year, we began the expansion of our plant in Bayovar, thus increasing its capacity in 50 MT/h.

In 2000, we completed the Bayovar expansion and purchased a fishmeal factory located in
This marked the
beginning of our expansion along the Peruvian coast. In order to have more accurate and timely financial

Caleta Vidal, Supe, with a capacity of 50 MT/h. and two vessels with a hold capacity of 670 MT.

information, the ERP-Exactus system was purchased in 2001, which allowed us to consolidate the company’s information. It is
worth mentioning that we were the first Peruvian fishing enterprise to have an ERP system. In the same year, we purchased three
vessels, with a hold capacity of 760 MT and we invested in the expansion of the Bayovar pier by 50 m long. On the other hand,
it is important to mention that the strategy of entering into agreements with fishing ship owners, which we launched in 2001,
has given us additional hold capacity of 4000 MT to date.

the company and achieving its sustained development. The most important one
was a good corporate governance orientation, which included the preparation of
family protocols ordering the succession, the professionalization of the executive and
managerial positions, the inclusion of independent external directors and the creation
of various committees within the board of directors. At the end of 2003, the transfer of two factories
from Supe to the port of Chicama was started, with the objective of increasing the hold capacity of the factory located in this
port to 120 MT/h.
In the year 2004, with the aim of continuing our expansion along the Peruvian coast, we rented two fishmeal factories. One is
located in Chimbote, with a capacity of 65 MT/h of FAQ fishmeal and 25 MT/h of SD fishmeal; the other one, in Casma, with a
capacity of 80 MT/h of SD fishmeal. We purchased 2 vessels with a capacity of 720 MT/h as well as the first 4 Transvac vacuum
pump systems, through a credit granted by U.S. Exim Bank, representing the first one granted by said entity to the fishing sector
in over 8 years, evidencing a clear sign of trust in COPEINCA. During that year we also extended the pier in an additional length
of 50 m.
Towards the end of 2004, in order to ensure a timely, efficient and informed decision-making process, it became necessary
to have an integrated enterprise resource planning system (ERP) used and recognized worldwide. Thus, COPEINCA
decided to purchase and implement the SAP system, choosing IBM to implement it. The
investment reached $ 2.5 million.

In 2005, we were able to structure an important international facility of $ 31 million with
Credit Suisse which allowed us, besides improving our debt profile, to purchase 100% of
the shares of Del Mar S.A.; with two FAQ fishmeal factories and 6 vessels with a hold capacity of 1900 MT. With this

In the second quarter of 2002, we started building a fishmeal factory in the strategic port of Chicama with a capacity of 50 MT/h
- which went into operation in the first campaign of 2003. Also in 2002, we built our first steam dried fishmeal factory in Bayovar
with a capacity of 50 MT/h, which went into production in the first campaign of 2003. Seeking to ensure the self-supply of raw
material to the factories, we also purchased four additional vessels, with a hold capacity of 880 MT.

important credit, we also concluded the purchase of assets of the Tauro Group, which included a factory in Casma of 80 MT/hr of
SD and 5 vessels with a hold capacity of 1,800 MT. That year we terminated the lease of the Chimbote factory since at that time
it was not a priority as opposed to the purchases made.

All the investments were financed by the cash produced by the company, capital increases and capitalization of profits. During

Under a policy of sustained and responsible growth, in early 2006, we purchased Pesquera
Jadrán, one of the most efficient ship owners of the country, through a company related to one of

2003 and 2004, the two family groups Dyer-Coriat and Dyer-Osorio-Fernández, holders
of 100% of COPEINCA’s shares, adopted a number of measures aimed at strengthening

our most important allies, with a hold capacity of 2,400 MT, consolidating a total capacity of over 11,000 MT for COPEINCA’S
operations. This operation was possible thanks to loans contracted with a major US financial entity and Interbank in Peru.
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In 2005, COPEINCA also took an important step in its commitment to voluntarily incorporate environmental and social

COPEINCA has also been the first company of the Peruvian
fishing sector to identify the need to have a Sustainability Report or Balance. This Balance

responsibility in its business. Hence,

will measure our performance in key environmental and social aspects, allowing us to establish more and more concrete and
quantifiable goals. The figures of the financial statements we presented for the year 2005 were consolidated for the first time,
since they included COPEINCA, Del Mar and Pescaperú Huarmey.

COPEINCA was the second Peruvian company (after Graña y
Montero) selected to participate in the Project “Strengthening of Good Corporative
Governance Practices” of the Andean Development Corporation (CAF), which initiative
is locally supported by Procapitales and is aimed at strengthening and improving our
practices. The implementation of the recommendations of this project will also allow us to obtain other benefits such as:

It is important to mention that

the cost reduction for the access to capital resources, the decrease of potential conflicts among partners, the efficiency in the
use of our resources and a better business image for COPEINCA.

During 2006, we were able to consolidate our position among the first five fishing
companies of the country and it is our intention to continue at the forefront in this
sector. We were able to consolidate the purchase of Del Mar and other assets we acquired early in the year, which allowed
us to have more plants and nearly double our fleet. On the other hand, the management of Jardan by COPIENCA, allowed us
to increase our fleet and factory use.
However, the highlight of 2006 was the recent placement of COPEINCA’s shares for a total amount of US$100 million, which
are listed in the Oslo Stock Exchange (Norway) since January 31, 2007. These new funds were obtained through a successful
private placement process among prestigious institutional, professional and private shareholders, investment funds and Norwegian and European banks. We chose the Oslo Stock Exchange because it is currently the global competitiveness center for
the world’s major fishing companies. In other words, at present we have 146 shareholders which include the Dyer families (of
the branches Samuel and Luis Dyer, founding partners), which hold 61.54% of the company’s share capital. Our main objective
regarding new shareholders it to generate the best value possible to the company, since our work will be directly reflected on
the value of our shares on the market.

We are one of the first Peruvian companies able to list its shares in Europe, and this has
only been possible thanks to an efficient and transparent management, good growth
perspectives and business consolidation. But, above all, having demanding and capable professionals who
have made investors trust us. This is an important milestone, not only for COPEINCA, but for the fishing sector and the country
in general, something that we must be very proud of. We are motivated to continue progressing and reaching the strategic
objectives that will lead us to become the most efficient and profitable fishmeal and fish oil company in the world.
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